
 

**PERSONAL AUDIO ENHANCERS ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE COUNCIL 

SECRETARY** 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR ELKHART CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
LOCATION:  CITY HALL, 2ND FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 November 4, 2024 

6:00 P.M. 

 

1.   Call to Order, Pledge, Moment of Silent Meditation, Roll Call 

 

2.  Minutes for Approval   
 Minutes of October 17, 2024 – Special Call Council Meeting 

 Minutes of October 21, 2024 – Council Meeting 

   

 Presentations and Introductions 

 Diana Lawson, Lerner Theatre, 100 Anniversary Celebration 

 

 Unfinished Business 

 

a) Reports of Council Committees  
      

b) Ordinances on Second-Third Reading  
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-41, an ordinance amending the Zoning Map 

created pursuant to Ordinance No. 4370, the “Zoning Ordinance of the City of 

Elkhart, Indiana” as amended, to rezone 203 N. Nappanee Street, Elkhart, IN 

46514, from R-2, One Family Dwelling District to O, Office District 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-42, an ordinance amending the Zoning Map 

created pursuant to Ordinance No. 4370, the “Zoning Ordinance of the City of 

Elkhart, Indiana” as amended, to rezone 2520 and 2526 Bypass Road, Elkhart, 

IN 46514, from M-1, Limited Manufacturing District to R-4, Multiple Family 

Dwelling 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-43, an ordinance enacting and adopting the 

Twenty-Third and Twenty-Fourth Supplements to the Code of Ordinances for 

the City of Elkhart, Indiana 

 

c) Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 
 

d) Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions  
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-10, an ordinance of the Common Council of the 

City of Elkhart, Indiana, authorizing the issuance of the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana, taxable Economic Development Revenue Bonds and approving and 

authorizing other actions in respect thereto 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



3.       New Business 

 

a. Ordinances on First Reading 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-44, an ordinance authorizing the Mayor or his 

Designee to secure an Indiana Department of Homeland Security Grant in the 

amount of Sixty Thousand Dollars ($60,000.00) for the purchase of a Birthing 

Simulation Mannequin for training purposes by the Elkhart Fire Department 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-45, an ordinance appropriating Three Hundred 

Twenty-Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($325,000.00) from the ARP 

Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to the Provision of Government 

Services Account to upgrade the Audio-Video (AV) System of the Common 

Council Chambers and other improvements 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-46, an ordinance appropriating Seventy-Five 

Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($75,000.00) from the ARP Coronavirus Local 

Fiscal Recovery Fund to the Provision of Government Services Account to 

collaborate with the Elkhart Chamber of Commerce in the implementation of 

the Benham Neighborhood Plan 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-47, an ordinance appropriating One Hundred 

Fifty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($150,000.00) from the ARP Coronavirus 

Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to the Negative Economic Impact Account to 

fund a collaboration with the Institute for Entrepreneurial Communities 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-48, an ordinance appropriating One Million Five 

Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($1,500,000.00) from the ARP 

Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to the Provision of Government 

Services Account to upgrade the heating, ventilation and air conditioning 

(HVAC) system of City Hall 

 

Resolutions 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-51, a resolution of the Common Council of the 

City of Elkhart, Indiana, confirming Resolution No. R-50-24, which declared 

a certain area in the City of Elkhart to be an Economic Revitalization Area for 

the purpose of Granting Tax Phase-In Benefits to Consolidated Metals, Inc.\ 

Westwood Manor Inc. 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-52, a resolution of the Common Council of the 

City of Elkhart, Indiana, to approve two memoranda of agreements between 

the City of Elkhart and Consolidated Metals Inc.\Westwood Manor Inc. 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-53, a resolution of the Common Council of the 

City of Elkhart, Indiana, declaring a certain area to be an Economic 

Revitalization Area for the purpose of Granting Tax Phase-In Benefits to 

PECF Enterprises Inc. DBA Triangle Rubber Co, LLC\N7 Guild LLC 

 

b. Vacation Hearings 

There are no vacation hearings 

       

c. Other New Business 

 

d. Reports of Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Departments 

 

e. Neighborhood Association Report 



 

f. Privilege of the Floor 

                  Please limit your comments to 3 minutes to allow others time to comment 

 

g. Scheduling of Committee Meetings 

 

 

4.       Acceptance of Communications 

 Minutes of October 8, 2024 – Board of Public Safety 

  

 

 Adjournment 

 



DRAFT 

1 
 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL CALL COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 

OF OCTOBER 17, 2024 

 

 

Present: Council President Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Alex Holtz, LaTonya King, Aaron Mishler, Dwight Fish, 

Tonda Hines, Chad Crabtree, and David Henke 

 

Absent: Councilman Brent Curry 

 

 This meeting was made available to the public electronically through WebEx. 

 

 President Dawson called the meeting to order at 6:01 p.m. in the Council Chambers at 

City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, in Elkhart.  All Council Members were present in Council 

Chambers.   

 

 Mayor Rod Roberson led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance.  President Dawson 

asked for a moment of silent reflection.   

 

 The clerk called the roll. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the special call notice in its entirety. 

 

OPENING STATEMENT 
Opening statement starts at 39 minutes and 18 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

The purpose of the meeting will be to adopt the 2025 budget and to adopt the 2025 salary 

ordinances for everyone except the fire department, which will be adopted at the regular Council 

meeting on Monday, October 21, 2024. 

 

Opening statement ends at 39 minutes and 43 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-34 

 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE OPERATING BUDGET FOR 2025 CALENDAR 

YEAR, APPROPRIATING FUNDS FOR SUCH PURPOSE AND ESTABLISHING THE 

TAX RATE FOR THE CITY OF ELKHART 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only. He asked for a 

motion and second to adopt the ordinance. Motion by Councilwoman Hines, second by 

Councilman Fish. 

 

 

 

 

 



DRAFT 

2 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-34 

President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 41 minutes and 20 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

Councilwoman Hines said the process of this budget is very daunting and she wanted to 

compliment the administration, the department heads and anyone else that was part of putting 

together the budget and presentations that were given at the budget meeting. It was a long day. 

She stated even though she has been on the council for a while, some of the department heads 

had changed and it was good to see the department heads and put a face with a name. The 

information provided to the questions that were asked prior to this meeting were answered in a 

timely manner and she was appreciative of that and everything they do. 

 

Councilman Henke said he has some significant concerns on trending in the budget and he 

would like to see the budget after the transfer agreements are done. As he reflected on trend plus 

request, he believes the budget is about $7,000,000.00 overfunded and he wondered if that figure 

could be reduced. He stated he would like to make the following motions to amend the budget: 

 

Page 26 of the Budget Book, Common Council, Other Services & Charges 

Requested amendment to line item 1101-5-009-4310400, Professional Services for a 

reduction of $30,000.00. 

 President Dawson asked for a second on the motion by Councilman Henke. Motion dies 

for lack of a second. 

  

Page 30 of the Budget Book, Human Resources, Other Services & Charges 

 Requested amendment to line item 1101-5-011-4390910, Education & Training for a 

reduction of $20,000.00. 

 President Dawson asked for a second on the motion by Councilman Henke. Motion dies 

for lack of a second. 

 

Page 34 of the Budget Books, Economic Development, Personnel Services 

 Requested amendment to line item 1101-5-016-4110130, Full Time Wages for a 

reduction of $25,000.00. 

President Dawson asked for a second on the motion by Councilman Henke. Motion dies 

for lack of a second. 

 

Page 36 of the Budget Book, Planning Department, Personnel Services 

 Requested amendment to line item 1101-5-017-4110130, Full Time Wages for a 

reduction of $50,000.00. 

President Dawson asked for a second on the motion by Councilman Henke. Motion dies 

for lack of a second. 

 

Page 40 of the Budget Book, Fire Department, Personnel Services 

 Requested amendment to line item 1101-5-217-4110130, Full Time Wages for a 

reduction of $500,000.00. 

President Dawson asked for a second on the motion by Councilman Henke. Motion dies 

for lack of a second. 



DRAFT 

3 
 

Page 46 of the Budget Book, Police Department, Personnel Services 

 Requested amendment to line item 1101-5-219-4110130, Full Time Wages for a 

reduction of $75,000.00. 

President Dawson asked for a second on the motion by Councilman Henke. Motion dies 

for lack of a second. 

 

Page 52 of the Budget Book, Buildings & Grounds Maintenance, Personnel Services 

 Requested amendment to line item 1101-5-303-4110140, Temporary, for a reduction of 

$75,000.00. 

President Dawson asked for a second on the motion by Councilman Henke. Motion dies 

for lack of a second. 

 

Page 62 of the Budget Book, Parks & Recreation, Personnel Services 

 Requested amendment to line item 1101-5-501-4110130, Full Time, for a reduction of 

$250,000.00. 

President Dawson asked for a second on the motion by Councilman Henke. Motion dies 

for lack of a second. 

 

 

President Dawson read a statement from Councilman Curry who was absent due to a 

scheduling conflict. Councilman Curry said it is a very responsible budget and he can support it. 

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-34 

President Dawson opened the discussion starting at 50 minutes and 48 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

There was no public discussion. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-34 

President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 51 minutes of the audio 

recording. 

 

There was no further discussion.   

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote on second reading. 

 

AYES: Holtz, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Dawson 

NAYS: Henke 

 

By a vote of 7-1, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

 

 

 



DRAFT 

4 
 

President Dawson asked for a motion and a second for third and final. Motion by Councilwoman 

Hines, second by Councilman Mishler. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and do a roll call 

vote.  

 

AYES: Holtz, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Dawson 

NAYS: Henke 

 

By a vote of 7-1, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final. 

 

Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 51 minutes and 59 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-35 

 

AN ORDINANCE FIXING THE ANNUAL SALARIES OF ELECTED OFFICIALS OF 

THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2025 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only. He asked for a 

motion and second to adopt the ordinance. Motion by Councilwoman Hines, second by 

Councilman Fish. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-35 

President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 52 minutes and 25 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

There was no council discussion. 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-35 

President Dawson opened the discussion starting at 52 minutes and 31 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

There was no public discussion. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-35 

President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 52 minutes and 36 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

 

There was no further discussion.   

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote on second reading. 

 

 

 



DRAFT 

5 
 

AYES: Holtz, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Dawson 

NAYS: Crabtree, Henke 

 

By a vote of 6-2, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion and a second for third and final. Motion by Councilman 

Mishler, second by Councilman Holtz. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and do a roll call 

vote.  

 

AYES: Holtz, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Dawson 

NAYS: Crabtree, Henke 

 

By a vote of 6-2, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final. 

 

Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 53 minutes and 38 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-36 

 

AN ORDINANCE FIXING THE SALARIES AND WAGES FOR APPOINTED 

OFFICERS, AND OTHER SALARIES EMPLOYEES OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, FOR THE YEAR 2025 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only. He asked for a 

motion and second to adopt the ordinance. Motion by Councilman Crabtree, second by 

Councilman Fish. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-36 

President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 54 minutes and 04 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

There was no council discussion. 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-36 

President Dawson opened the discussion starting at 54 minutes and 09 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

There was no public discussion. 

 

 

 

 

 



DRAFT 

6 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-36 

President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 54 minutes and 14 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

 

There was no further discussion.   

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote on second reading. 

 

 

AYES: Holtz, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS:  

 

By a vote of 8-0, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion and a second for third and final. Motion by Councilman 

Mishler, second by Councilwoman Hines.  

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and do a roll call 

vote.  

 

AYES: Holtz, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS:  

 

By a vote of 8-0, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final. 

 

Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 55 minutes and 05 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-37 

 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING A SCHEDULE OF SALARIES AND OTHER 

COMPENSATION FOR THE POLICE OFFICERS OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2025 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only. He asked for a 

motion and second to adopt the ordinance. Motion by Councilman Crabtree, second by 

Councilman Fish. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-37 

President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 55 minutes and 27 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

There was no council discussion. 

 

 



DRAFT 

7 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-37 

President Dawson opened the discussion starting at 55 minutes and 31 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

There was no public discussion. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-37 

President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 55 minutes and 35 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

 

There was no further discussion.   

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote on second reading. 

 

AYES: Holtz, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS:  

 

By a vote of 8-0, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion and a second for third and final. Motion by Councilman 

Crabtree, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

 

AYES: Holtz, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS:  

 

By a vote of 8-0, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final. 

 

Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 55 minutes and 05 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

 

FIRST READING 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-40 

 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING A SCHEDULE OF SALARIES AND OTHER 

COMPENSATION FOR THE FIRE DEPARTMENT OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2025 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  If there are no 

objections this will move on to second and third reading at the council meeting on October 21, 

2024. 

There were no objections and the proposed ordinance moved to second reading.  

 



DRAFT 

8 
 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion to adjourn. 

Motion by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Mishler. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the meeting was adjourned. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
_______________________________   ________________________________ 

Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk   Arvis L. Dawson 

                  President of the Elkhart City Council 

 

 

 



DRAFT 
 

 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 

OF OCTOBER 21, 2024 

 

Present: Council President Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Brent Curry, LaTonya King, Aaron Mishler, Tonda Hines 

 

Present 

Via WebEx: Dwight Fish 

  

Absent: Alex Holtz, Chad Crabtree, David Henke 

 

   This meeting was made available to the public electronically through WebEx. 

 

 President Dawson called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City 

Hall, 229 S. Second Street, in Elkhart.  All Council Members were present in Council Chambers 

with the exception of Councilman Fish who appeared via WebEx. 

 

Ralph Spelbring led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance. President Dawson asked for a 

moment of silent reflection.   

  

 The clerk called the roll.   

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion and second to approve the minutes from the September 21, 

2024, Finance Of-The-Whole Committee.   

 

Motion made by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

 

Due to a technical difficulty, Councilman Fish was seen, but could not be heard. 

 

By a vote of 5-0, the minutes were approved. 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion and second to approve the minutes from the October 7, 

2024, Council meeting.   

 

Motion made by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

 

Due to a technical difficulty, Councilman Fish was seen, but could not be heard. 

 

By a vote of 5-0, the minutes were approved.   

 

 

 

 

 



2 

 

PRESENTATIONS AND INTRODUCTIONS 

Presentation begins at 44 minutes and 52 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

James Randolph, the Holliday Group said he was here to give an update on the project on 

County Road 17 and U.S. 20, the Crossroads 41 Project. Over the last year, they are starting to 

work through their full set of construction drawings in order to bring this ordinance back in front 

of the council to get the Tax Increment Financing hereafter, TIF through the final stages. They 

have taken a look at the project again to finalize the programming and made some other changes. 

They will present the information that he brought on a flash drive when they bring the TIF back 

to the council.  He would like to answer any questions about the project. 

 

Councilman Curry asked what the time line was. James Randolph replied they are looking to 

get through the next eight (8) weeks to finish their construction set of drawings and to finalize 

everything with the architects and engineers so they can get permits. At that time, they will start 

working through their financing packages and work with the banks locally to secure the debt on 

the project. They are hoping to break ground in the first part of 2025. Councilman Curry asked 

will people be able to move in late in 2025. James Randolph replied ideally, they will have 

people ready to move in about 12 months after their start date. Then they will be phasing 

buildings out for the next 21 to 23 months after that. 

 

Presentation ends at 47 minutes and 45 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

 

REPORTS OF COUNCIL COMMITTEES 

 

There were no reports of Council Committees. 

 

 

ORDINANCES ON SECOND-THIRD READING 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-40 

 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING A SCHEDULE OF SALARIES AND OTHER 

COMPENSATION FOR THE FIRE DEPARTMENT OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2025 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only. He asked for a 

motion and second to adopt on second reading. Motion made by Councilman Curry, second by 

Councilwoman Hines.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



3 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-38 

President Dawson opened council discussion starting at 48 minutes and 18 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

There was no discussion. 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-38 

President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 48 minutes and 24 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

There was no public discussion. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-38 

President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 48 minutes and 34 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

 

There was no further Council discussion. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote on second reading. 

 

AYES: Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Dawson 

NAYS:  

 

By a vote of 6-0, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

   

Motion for third and final reading made by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilwoman 

Hines. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and do a roll call 

vote.  

 

AYES: Curry, King, Fish, Mishler, Hines, Dawson 

NAYS:  

 

By a vote of 6-0, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading.   

 

Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 49 minutes and 29 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

 

There are no ordinances or resolutions referred to committees. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



4 

 

TABLED ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-10 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

TAXABLE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BONDS AND APPROVING AND 

AUTHORIZING OTHER ACTIONS IN RESPECT THERETO 

 

President Dawson stated this ordinance will remain tabled. 

 

ORDINANCES ON FIRST READING 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-41 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP CREATED PURSUANT TO 

ORDINANCE NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA” AS AMENDED TO REZONE 203 N. NAPPANEE STREET, ELKHART, IN 

46514, FROM R-2, ONE FAMILY DWELLING TO DISTRICT O, OFFICE DISTRICT 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  If there are no 

objections this will move to second reading. 

 

There was no objection; proposed ordinance moved on to second reading. 

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-42 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP CREATED PURSUANT TO 

ORDINANCE NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA” AS AMENDED, TO REZONE 2520 AND 2526 BYPASS ROAD, ELKHART, 

IN 46514, FROM M-1, LIMITED MANUFACTURING DISTRICT TO R-4, MULTIPLE 

FAMILY DWELLING 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  If there are no 

objections this will move to second reading. 

 

There was no objection; proposed ordinance moved on to second reading. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



5 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-49 

 

AN ORDINANCE ENACTING AND ADOPTING THE TWENTY-THIRD AND 

TWENTY-FOURTH SUPPLEMENTS TO THE CODE OF ORDINANCES FOR THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  If there are no 

objections this will move to second reading. 

 

There was no objection; proposed ordinance moved on to second reading. 

 

 

RESOLUTIONS 

 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-49 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, AUTHORZING THE TRANSFER OF NINETY THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($90,000.00) FROM THE LERNER THEATRE PERSONNEL CATEGORY TO THE 

OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES CATEGORY 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only. He asked for a 

motion and a second to adopt this resolution. Motion by Councilwoman Hines, second by 

Councilman Mishler. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-49 

President Dawson opened council discussion starting at 51 minutes and 37 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

Mike Huber, Director of Development Services, said at a previous meeting they introduced 

Sherry May as the Interim General Manager at the Lerner Theatre. Also present at that meeting 

was Scott Welsh from Conway Entertainment Group. He said they have contracted with the city 

to find a full time permanent General Manager for the Lerner Theatre. This is a request to 

provide funding that is within the current Lerner budget. The Conway Entertainment Group and 

Sherry May were always intended to be a team in terms of the scope of Ms. May’s contract as 

well as, looking to support Ms. May in both the analysis of the operating model and to help 

identify and maximize any and all revenue alternatives that may be opportunities at the Lerner. 

And also to leverage their industry contacts in the development and facilitation of a full 2025 

programming calendar and support the new permanent General Manager when that person is 

identified and help that person transition into that role based on their work here on the operating 

model and working with Ms. May. This is the contract they have anticipated in conjunction with 

Ms. May’s contract. The Conway Entertainment Group found her so fast that they were able to 

get her in and get her secured first. This is a six (6) month contract. They are not asking for new 

dollars to be brought, this is money that is within the Lerner budget currently. They are just 

asking to move the money to be able to fund the contract. 

 

 

 

 



6 

 

Councilman Mishler said he is looking forward to seeing them work together to move the 

Lerner to the next phase. He asked if they would see another resolution in front of the council in 

five (5) months when this one runs out.  Mike Huber replied this is anticipating to be inclusive, 

they were hoping to find a suitable candidate within the first 90 to 120 days and then take the 

remainder of the contract, to be able to help with the transition. 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-49 

President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 54 minutes and 47 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

There was no public discussion. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-49 

President Dawson opened council discussion starting at 54 minutes and 54 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

There was no further Council discussion. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote.  

 

AYES: Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a vote of 6-0, the proposed resolution passed.  

 

Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 55 minutes and 10 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-50 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, DECLARING A CERTAIN AREA TO BE AN ECONOMIC 

REVITILIZATION AREA FOR THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE IN 

BENEFITS TO CONSOLIDATED METALS, INC.\WESTWOOD MANOR 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only. He asked for a 

motion and a second to adopt the resolution. Motion by Councilman Mishler, second by 

Councilwoman Hines. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-50 

President Dawson opened council discussion starting at 55 minutes and 36 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

Drew Wynes, Economic Development, said Consolidated Metals, Inc., hereafter CMI, is a 

manufacturer of steel tubing with production capabilities for a wide variety of tubing sizes, 

shapes and gauges. This project involves a $625,000.00 investment in existing building 

improvements, following the purchase of 3504 Cooper Drive, which will be CMI’s new 

headquarters. CMI’s personal property investment includes a $9,125,500.00 investment in steel 

mills. This is an advanced manufacturing project that renovates a facility that is over 25 years 



7 

 

old. They recommend a five (5) year real property and five (5) year personal property tax phase 

in. This project is projected to create 30 new jobs with an average annual wage of $50,981.00. 

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-50 

President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 56 minutes and 52 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

There was no public discussion. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-50 

President Dawson opened council discussion starting at 56 minutes and 58 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

Councilman Mishler asked about the average salary of $50,981.00 for the 30 positions and 

questioned if that figure was $25 to $26 dollars an hour? Drew Wynes replied that sounds 

correct and he would defer to the company to talk about company specific details. Councilman 

Mishler replied that was his only question and the company fits into the matrix. Mike Huber had 

answered the other questions that he had earlier. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote.  

 

AYES: Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a vote of 6-0, the proposed resolution passed.  

 

Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 58 minutes and 03 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

VACATION HEARINGS 

 

There are no vacation hearings. 

 

 

OTHER NEW BUSINESS 

President Dawson opened the discussion starting at 58 minutes and 06 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

President Dawson said he would like to ask the Public Works and Improvement Committee to 

talk with the Parks Department Superintendent regarding the strategic plan they have for the 

Parks Department so that can be presented to the committee in order for the Council to 

understand where they are in moving forward. He said Councilman Fish is the chairman of that 

committee and he asked him to coordinate that meeting and to let the council know when the 

meeting will be held. 
 

New Business discussion ended at 58 minutes and 37 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 



8 

 

REPORTS OF MAYOR, BOARD OF WORKS, BOARD OF SAFETY OR CITY 

DEPARTMENTS 

 

There were no reports. 

 

 

NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION REPORTS 

President Dawson opened the Neighborhood Association Reports starting at 58 minutes and 47 

seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Councilwoman King said October 29, 2024, at 6 p.m. they are having a meeting in regards to 

Ullery Park. It will be at the Hope Fellowship Church, 1618 South 6th Street. They will talk 

about changes to Ullery Park. They want people to share their ideas and to meet the park staff. If 

they have questions they can call 574-295-7275. They will be passing out flyers in the 

community to bring awareness to the meeting and they look forward to seeing everyone there. 

 

Neighborhood Association reports ends at 59 minutes and 48 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

PRIVILEGE OF THE FLOOR 

Privilege of the floor begins at 59 minutes and 52 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Ralph Spelbring said he heard the Obama Center will open in Chicago in 2026. Chicago has 

hosted 25 conventions. The following television stations are celebrating their 70th year in 

broadcasting, WISH 8 in Indianapolis and WTHI in Terre Haute. WNIT is celebrating 50 years 

in broadcasting this year. He wanted everyone to know that Indiana University is having the best 

football season since 1967. 

 

Privilege of the floor ends at 1 hour, 01 minute and 39 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

SCHEDULING OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

 

There are no committee meetings. 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF COMMUNICATIONS 
 Minutes of September 10, 2024 – Aurora Capital Development Corporation 

 Minutes of September 24, 2024 – Board of Public Safety 

 Minutes of October 1, 2024 – Board of Public Works 

 Minutes of September 10, 2024 – Elkhart Redevelopment Commission 

 Minutes of September 11, 2024 – Lerner Theatre Board  

 

President Dawson asked for a motion to approve the communications.  Motion made by 

Councilman Curry, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote.  

 

AYES: Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a vote of 6-0, the Acceptance of Communications passed. 



9 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion to adjourn.  Motion made by Councilwoman Hines, second 

by Councilman Mishler. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote.  

 

AYES: Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a vote of 6-0, the meeting was adjourned. 

 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________  ________________________________ 

Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk   Arvis L. Dawson 

                  President of the Elkhart City Council 



Proposed Ordinance 24-O-41





 
Page 1 of 4 

 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-41 

 

ORDINANCE NO.     

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP CREATED 

PURSUANT TO ORDINANCE NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY 
OF ELKHART, INDIANA” AS AMENDED, TO REZONE 203 N. NAPPANEE STREET, 

ELKHART, IN 46514, FROM R-2, ONE FAMILY DWELLING DISTRICT TO O, 
OFFICE DISTRICT. 

 
WHEREAS, on July 20, 1998, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana (the 

“Common Council”) adopted Ordinance No. 4370 (the “Zoning Ordinance of the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana”), creating the zoning map that established the zoning districts for all real estate located 

within the corporate boundaries of the City of Elkhart (commonly referred to as the “Zoning 

Map”); and 

WHEREAS, the real estate located at 203 N. Nappanee Street, Elkhart, IN 46514 (the “Real 

Estate”), is zoned R-2, One Family Dwelling District; and 

WHEREAS, the owner of the Real Estate petitioned the Elkhart City Plan Commission, 

requesting an amendment to the Zoning Map to allow for use as office space; and 

WHEREAS, the intended use of the Real Estate is not a permitted use, unless the subject 

Real Estate is rezoned from R-2, One Family Dwelling District to O, Office District, and thereby 

allowing the owner’s intended use; and  

WHEREAS, the rezoning, as petitioned, remains compatible with the adjacent properties 

and reflects responsible growth and development; and  

WHEREAS, on October 7, 2024, the Elkhart City Plan Commission conducted a public 

hearing on the petition to amend the Zoning Map for the purpose stated herein and voted to forward 

to this Council, the Commission’s “Do Pass” recommendation. 



 
Page 2 of 4 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA that 

Section 1. The zoning map created pursuant to and incorporated into Ordinance No. 4370, 

as amended, the Zoning Ordinance of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, is hereby further amended to 

rezone from R-2, One Family Dwelling District to O, Office District, the following real estate, 

located in the City of Elkhart, County of Elkhart, State of Indiana, and more fully described in the 

Exhibit A attached to this Ordinance.  

Section 2. Conditions of Rezoning.  This amendment and rezoning shall not take effect unless 

the following condition is satisfied: 

A. Cross access is established between the parking lots so there are egress and ingress options. 

Section 3. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and 

after its passage by the Common Council. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
Page 3 of 4 

 

Exhibit A 

Description of Real Property 

  

Legal Description: 

A PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER (SE 1/4) OF SECTION ONE (1), TOWNSHIP THIRTY-SEVEN (37) 
NORTH, RANGE FOUR (4) EAST CLEVELAND TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  

COMMENCING AT A STONE AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER (SW 1/4) OF 
SECTION SIX (6), TOWNSHIP THIRTY-SEVEN (37) NORTH, RANGE FIVE (5) EAST; THENCE SOUTH 
ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION ONE (1), FIVE HUNDRED SIXTEEN AND SIXTY-FOUR 
HUNDREDTHS (516.64) FEET FOR THE BEGINNING POINT OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE SOUTH 
EIGHTY-EIGHT (88) FEET; THENCE SOUTH EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES THIRTY-EIGHT (38) MINUTES 
WEST, THREE HUNDRED THIRTY (330) FEET TO AN IRON STAKE; THENCE NORTH EIGHTY-EIGHT (88) 
FEET TO AN IRON STAKE; THENCE NORTH EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES THIRTY-EIGHT (38) MINUTES 
EAST, THREE HUNDRED THIRTY (330) FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING. 

EXPECTING THEREFROM THE FOLLOWING: 

A PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, ELKHART 
COUNTY INDIANA AND THAT PART OF THE GRANTOR'S LAND LYING WITHIN THE RIGHT OF WAY 
LINES DEPICTED ON THE ATTACHED RIGHT OF WAY PARCEL PLAT MARKED EXHIBIT "B", DESCRIBED 
AS FOLLOWS:  

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 6, 
TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 5 EAST DESIGNATED AS POINT "20" ON SAID PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 0 
DEGREES 17 MINUTES 18 SECONDS WEST 516.64 FEET ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 1 TO 
THE PROLONGED NORTH LINE OF THE GRANTOR'S LAND; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 42 MINUTES 
42 SECONDS WEST 37.50 FEET ALONG THE PROLONGATION OF SAID NORTH LINE TO THE WEST 
BOUNDARY OF S.R.19 PER DEED RECORD 218, PAGE 435 (OFFICE OF RECORDER OF ELKHART 
COUNTY) AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE SOUTH 0 DEGREES 06 
MINUTES 48 SECONDS WEST 88.00 FEET ALONG THE BOUNDARY OF SAID S.R.19 TO THE SOUTH LINE 
OF THE GRANTOR'S LAND; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 42 MINUTES 42 SECONDS WEST 14.90 FEET 
ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE; THENCE NORTH 0 DEGREES 06 MINUTES 48 SECONDS EAST 77.85 FEET TO 
THE POINT DESIGNATED AS "297" ON SAID PLAT; THENCE NORTH 13 DEGREES 55 MINUTES 23 
SECONDS WEST 10.47 FEET TO THE NORTH LINE OF THE GRANTOR'S LAND THENCE SOUTH 89 
DEGREES 42 MINUTES 42 SECONDS EAST 17.44 FEET ALONG SAID NORTH LINE TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING AND CONTAINING 0.030 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

Address(s): 
203 N. Nappanee Street, Elkhart IN 46514 
Parcel Identification Number(s): 

20-05-01-427-007.000-006 



 
Page 4 of 4 

 

So ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 

 
 
           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this    day of    ,    , 

at _________ a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor for the City of Elkhart 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 



















Rod Roberson 

Mayor 

Michael Huber 

Director of Development Services 

Development Services 

Community Development 

Economic Development 

Pln1111ing Services 

Redevelopment 

229 S. Second St. 

Elkhart, IN 46516 

574.294.5471 

Fax: 574.295.7501 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

RE: 

October 11, 2024 

City of Elkhart Common Council 

Michael Huber, Director of Development Services 

Rezoning reguest for 2520 and 2526 Bypass Road -(20-05-01-426-007.000-006 and 20-05-01-401-
011.000-006) 

At its regular meeting on Monday, October 7, 2024, the Plan Commission recommended approval of Petition 24-2-07. The 
Plan Commission provided a 'Do Pass' recommendation on to the Common Council by a vote of 7-0 w/ one abstention. 

The petitioner, RB Realty, LLC, has requested to rezone the former Skyline Complex. The 18.21 acre parcels are proposed 
to be redeveloped as multi-family housing. The plan calls for 138 units across three buildings. The rezoning to R-4, Multi 
Family Dwelling District from M-1, Limited Manufacturing District will allow the project to move forward. 

This project also helps our community continue to address the shortage of residential dwelling units as highlighted in the 
Zimmerman Volk study. Currently the project is being designed to be accessible to the area's workforce, including those 
earning between 80-120% of the Area Median Income (AMI). The final layout for the project has not yet been finalized. 
However, the project will be required to be submitted for review at Technical Review and by the Building Department 
before permits are issued. 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-42





Page 1 of 5 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-42 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP CREATED 
PURSUANT TO ORDINANCE NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY 

OF ELKHART, INDIANA” AS AMENDED, TO REZONE 2520 AND 2526 BYPASS 
ROAD, ELKHART, IN 46514, FROM M-1, LIMITED MANUFACTURING DISTRICT 

TO R-4, MULTIPLE FAMILY DWELLING DISTRICT. 

WHEREAS, on July 20, 1998, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana (the 

“Common Council”) adopted Ordinance No. 4370 (the “Zoning Ordinance of the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana”), creating the zoning map that established the zoning districts for all real estate located 

within the corporate boundaries of the City of Elkhart (commonly referred to as the “Zoning 

Map”); and 

WHEREAS, the real estate located at 2520 and 2526 Bypass Road, Elkhart, IN 46514 (the 

“Real Estate”), is zoned M-1, Limited Manufacturing District; and 

 WHEREAS, the owner of the Real Estate petitioned the Elkhart City Plan 

Commission, requesting an amendment to the Zoning Map to allow for construction of one 

hundred thirty-eight (138) apartments across three buildings; and

WHEREAS, the intended use of the Real Estate is not a permitted use, unless the subject

Real Estate is rezoned from M-1, Limited Manufacturing District to R-4, Multiple Family 

Dwelling District, thereby permitting the owner’s intended use; and  

WHEREAS, the rezoning, as petitioned, remains compatible with the adjacent properties 

and reflects responsible growth and development; and  



Page 2 of 5 
 

WHEREAS, on October 7, 2024, the Elkhart City Plan Commission conducted a public 

hearing on the petition to amend the Zoning Map for the purpose stated herein and voted to forward 

to this Council, the Commission’s “Do Pass” recommendation. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA that 

Section 1. The zoning map created pursuant to and incorporated into Ordinance No. 4370, 

as amended, the Zoning Ordinance of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, is hereby further amended to 

rezone from M-1, Limited Manufacturing District to R-4, Multiple Family Dwelling District, the 

following real estate, located in the City of Elkhart, County of Elkhart, State of Indiana, and more 

fully described in the Exhibit A attached to this Ordinance.  

Section 2. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and 

after its passage by the Common Council. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.]



Page 3 of 5 
 

Exhibit A 

Description of Real Property 

Address(s):  

Parcel Identification Number(s): 
 
20-05-01-426-007.000-006 

20-05-01-401-011.000-006 

Legal Description:  
 
TRACT I: A PART OF SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, SECOND PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 
CLEVELAND TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING AT A 1" IRON PIPE THAT IS 1212. 7 FEET SOUTH AND 1.57 CHAINS WEST (103.62 FEET) 
OF THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID 
SECTION 1; THENCE SOUTH 0 DEGREES 1 MINUTE 36 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 916.80 FEET TO 
A POINT ON THE CENTERLINE OF INDIANA STATE HIGHWAY 112; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 26 
MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF  509 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE CONTINUING EAST ALONG SAID LINE, A DISTANCE OF 400 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 0 DEGREES 0 MINUTES 36 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 50 FEET TO AN IRON 
PIPE ON THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY SAID INDIANA STATE HIGHWAY 112; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 
26 MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY, A DISTANCE OF 100.40 FEET TO 
AN IRON REBAR WITH CAP (DORIOT #890028); THENCE NORTH 0 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 22 SECONDS 
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 768.10 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF 
SAID SECTION 1; CONTINUING NORTH ALONG SAID LINE, A DISTANCE OF 107.31 FEET; THENCE NORTH 
89 DEGREES 55 MINUTES 2 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 514.07 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE; THENCE 
SOUTH O DEGREES 0 MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 107.30 FEET TO A POINT ON THE 
NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 1; THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH ALONG 
SAID LINE, A DISTANCE OF 813.80 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; SAID DESCRIBED TRACT 
CONTAINING 10.63 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

EXCEPTING THEREFROM: A PART OF THAT TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO SKYLINE CORPORATION, AS 
DESCRIBED IN DEED RECORD 97-000017, ELKHART COUNTY RECORDER, AND LYING IN SECTION 1, 
TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH RANGE 4 EAST, CLEVELAND TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING AT A 1" IRON PIPE THAT IS 1212.7 FEET SOUTH AND 1.57 CHAINS WEST (103.62 FEET) 
OF THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID 
SECTION 1 (RECORD DIMENSION PER SAID SKYLINE CORPORATION LAND); THENCE SOUTH 0'01 '36" 
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 916.80 FEET TO A POINT ON THE CENTERLINE OF INDIANA STATE HIGHWAY 112 

2520 and 2526 Bypass Road, Elkhart, IN 46514 



Page 4 of 5 
 

(RECORD DIMENSION PER SAID SKYLINE CORPORATION LAND); THENCE SOUTH 89'26'00" EAST 
ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 509.00 FEET (RECORD DIMENSION PER SAID SKYLINE 
CORPORATION LAND) TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION AND BEING THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF SAID SKYLINE CORPORATION LAND; THENCE NORTH 89'25'06" EAST ALONG SAID 
CENTERLINE 400.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01 '08'18" EAST 50.00 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE ON THE 
NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID INDIANA STATE HIGHWAY 112; THENCE NORTH 89'25'06" EAST 
ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY 100.40 FEET TO AN IRON REBAR WITH CAP (DORIOT #890028) 
MARKING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SKYLINE CORPORATION LAND; THENCE NORTH O0 14'32" 
WEST 603.5 FEET, PASSING A REBAR WITH CAP (MUSSER #9700002) AT 597.00 FEET, TO THE EDGE OF 
WATER; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY, ALONG THE SOUTHERLY EDGE OF WATER, 506 FEET TO A POINT 
LYING NORTH 01 '08'18" WEST 925.63 FEET AND NORTH 89'18'14" EAST 94.23 FEET FROM THE POINT 
OF BEGINNING AND BEING ON A LINE 107.3 FEET NORTHERLY OF THE EAST-WEST HALF SECTION LINE 
OF SAID SECTION 1; THENCE SOUTH 89'18'14" WEST 94.23 FEET TO A REBAR WITH CAP (MUSSER 
#9700002) MARKING THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SKYLINE CORPORATION LAND; THENCE 
SOUTH 01 '08'18" EAST 925.63 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 9.11 ACRES MORE OR 
LESS. 

TRACT II: A PART OF SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, SECOND PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 
CLEVELAND TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS:  

COMMENCING AT A 1" IRON PIPE THAT IS 1212. 7 FEET SOUTH AND 1.57 CHAINS WEST (103.62 FEET) 
OF THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID 
SECTION 1; THENCE SOUTH 0 DEGREES 1 MINUTE 36 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 916.80 FEET TO 
A POINT ON THE CENTERLINE OF INDIANA STATE HIGHWAY 112; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 26 
MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 509 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE 
CONTINUING EAST ALONG SAID LINE AND CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 400 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE 
NORTH 0 DEGREES 0 MINUTES 36 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 50 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE ON THE 
NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY OF SAID INDIANA STATE HIGHWAY 112; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 26 
MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY, A DISTANCE OF 100.40 FEET TO AN 
IRON REBAR WITH CAP (DORI OT #890028) AT THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; 
THENCE CONTINUING EAST ALONG SAID LINE AND NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY, A DISTANCE OF 77.10 FEET 
TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE, CONCAVE TO THE NORTH, HAVING A 
RADIUS OF 1632. 71 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 32 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 36 SECONDS, AND A CHORD 
OF 918.61 FEET BEARING NORTH 76 DEGREES 2 MINUTES 38 SECONDS EAST; THENCE EAST ALONG 
SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 931.18 FEET TO AN IRON REBAR WITH CAP (DORI OT #890028); THENCE 
NORTH 0 DEGREES 36 MINUTES 53 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 545.86 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE ON 
THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 1; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 55 
MINUTES 2 SECONDS WEST ALONG SAID NORTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 546.49 FEET TO A POINT; 
THENCE DUE NORTH, A DISTANCE OF 107.30 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 55 
MINUTES 2 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 414.11 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 0 DEGREES 54 
MINUTES 22 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 107.31 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF THE 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 1; THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH ALONG SAID LINE, A 
DISTANCE OF 768.10 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 16.69 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 



Page 5 of 5 
 

So ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 

 
           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this    day of    ,  , 

at _________ a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor for the City of Elkhart 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk
 

























P a g e  | 1 of 1 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-43

M E M O R A N D U M

DATE:  October 16, 2024 

TO: Common Council 

FROM: Corporation Counsel John M. Espar 

RE: Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-43 
Enacting and Adopting Two Supplements of the Code of Ordinances for the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana. 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-43 is an ordinance which seeks to enact and adopt the twenty-third 
and twenty-fourth supplements to the Code of Ordinances for the City of Elkhart, Indiana.  

These supplements will contain all ordinances of general and permanent nature that have been 
enacted since the previous supplement to the Code of Ordinances of the City of Elkhart was 
enacted in 2021. 

American Legal Publishing Corporation has recommended the revisions or additions to the Code 
of Ordinances referencing related sections of the Indiana Code, as set forth in the attached 2022 
S-23 Supplement and Sheet 2023 S-24 Supplement. 



Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-43 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ____________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE ENACTING AND ADOPTING THE TWENTY-THIRD AND 
TWENTY-FOURTH SUPPLEMENTS TO THE  

CODE OF ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA  
___________________________________ 

 
 WHEREAS, American Legal Publishing Corporation of Cincinnati, Ohio, has completed 

the twenty-third supplement (S-23) and twenty-fourth supplement (S-24) to the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, which contain all ordinances of a general and 

permanent nature enacted since the passage of the twenty-second supplement (S-22) to the Code 

of Ordinances of the City of Elkhart; and  

 WHEREAS, American Legal Publishing Corporation has recommended certain revisions 

or additions to the Code of Ordinances, which are based upon on or make reference to sections of 

the Indiana Code; and 

 WHEREAS, it is the intent of the Common Council to accept these updated sections in 

accordance with the changes of the law of the State of Indiana; and 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary to provide for the usual daily operations of the municipality 

and for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, safety and general welfare of the 

municipality that this Ordinance take effect at an early date. 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, that: 

 Section 1.  That the twenty-third and twenty-fourth supplements to the Code of Ordinances 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, as submitted by American Legal Publishing Corporation of 

Cincinnati, Ohio, and as attached hereto, be, and the same hereby are, adopted by reference as if 

set out in their entirety. 



2 
 

 Section 2.  Such supplements shall be deemed published as of the day of their adoption and 

approval by the Common Council, and the Elkhart City Clerk is hereby authorized and ordered to 

insert such supplements into the copy of the Code of Ordinances kept on file in the Office of the 

Clerk. 

 ORDAINED this _____ day of ______________________, ______. 

    ______________________________________ 
    Arvis Dawson 
    President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
          PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ________________________, 
______. 
   
    _____________________________________ 
    Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
            APPROVED by me this _______ day ______________________, ______. 
 
 
    _____________________________________ 
    Rod Roberson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

































































































































































Proposed Ordinance 24-O-44



Page 1 of 2 
 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-44 

 

ORDINANCE NO._____________ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR OR HIS DESIGNEE TO SECURE AN 
INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY GRANT IN THE AMOUNT OF 
SIXTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($60,000.00) FOR THE PURCHASE OF A BIRTHING 
SIMULATION MANNEQUIN FOR TRAINING PURPOSES BY THE ELKHART FIRE 

DEPARTMENT 

__________________________________________________________________ 

WHEREAS, the Indiana Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”) granted funds in the 

amount of Sixty Thousand dollars ($60,000.00) for the purchase of a birthing simulation 

mannequin for training purposes by the City of Elkhart Fire Department; and 

WHEREAS, the acquisition of the equipment will enhance the training capabilities and 

will improve the emergency response related to childbirth in the first response crew from the City 

of Elkhart Fire Department; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. The Indiana Department of Homeland Security grant to the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana, for the purchase of a birthing simulation mannequin, in the amount of Sixty Thousand 

dollars ($60,000.00), be, and hereby is, accepted and appropriated from the State Grant Fund 

(2404) and assigned to the following account line:  

Account No. 2404-5-000-4440500      Name: Other Equipment  Amount: $60,000.00 

Section 2. This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor, as provided by law, and shall continue into successive years, 

provided the project is ongoing, and the funds appropriated herein, have not been exhausted. 



Page 2 of 2 
 

Section 3. Pursuant to Ind. Code 6-1.1-18-7.5, relating to the appropriation of funds, 

designated as grant funds subject to state or federal reimbursement, the Common Council waives 

the provisions of Ind. Code 6-1.1-18-5, requiring publication of notice and public hearing, and 

fixes the ____ day of ________________, ______, at 6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, as the 

date, time and place when the Common Council will consider and determine the appropriation. 

SO ORDAINED this             day of                   ,     . 
 
 
           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this   day of    ,  , at_________ 

a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 



Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-45 

PAGE 1  OF 1  

M E M O R A N D U M

DATE: November 4th, 2024 

TO: Council 

FROM: James Gerald, Information Technology Director 

RE: Council Chamber Audio Video Upgrades

The Information Technology Department requests approval of the Council Chamber Audio 
Video Upgrades project. 

This project will include the design and installation of a new hybrid audio video system for 
the council chambers to operate in an automated or manned mode as required.  This upgrade is 
expected to improve the efficiency and capability of the current system by expanding and 
automating processes.  It will also aid us in improving ADA capabilities with a modernized 
hearing induction loop, larger screens for viewing, and transcription in Spanish and English.   

This project will enhance our capabilities while allowing for vendor agnostic future expansion 
of the system as newer technologies evolve. 



Page 1 of 4 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-45 
 

ORDINANCE NO.     
 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING THREE HUNDRED TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND 
AND 00\100 DOLLARS ($325,000.00) FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL 

FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE PROVISION OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES 
ACCOUNT TO UPGRADE THE AUDIO-VIDEO (AV) SYSTEM OF THE COMMON 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS AND OTHER IMPROVEMENTS 
 

___________________________________ 
 

WHEREAS, the United States Congress passed the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 

and awarded to the City of Elkhart (“City”) funds which may be used for certain authorized uses 

specified under Section 603(c)(1) of the Social Security Act, as added by Section 9901 of the 

ARPA; 

WHEREAS, Section 603(c)(1) of the Social Security Act, as added          by Section 9901 of the 

American Rescue Plan Act   of 2021, designates the following authorized uses: 

(A) to respond to the public health emergency with respect to the Coronavirus 
Disease 2019 (COVID–19) or its negative economic impacts, including assistance 
to households,  small businesses, and nonprofits, or aid to impacted industries such 
as tourism, travel, and hospitality; 
(B) to respond to workers performing essential work during the COVID–19 public 
health  emergency by providing premium pay to eligible workers of the metropolitan 
city, nonentitlement unit of local government, or county that are performing such 
essential work, or by providing grants to eligible employers that have eligible 
workers who perform essential work; 
(C) for the provision of government services to the extent of the reduction in 
revenue of such metropolitan city, nonentitlement unit of local government, or 
county due to the COVID–19 public health emergency relative to revenues collected 
in the most recent full fiscal year of the metropolitan city, nonentitlement unit of 
local government, or county prior to the emergency; or 

(D) to make necessary investments in water, sewer, or broadband infrastructure. 
 



Page 2 of 4 

WHEREAS, the Audio-Video (AV) system in the Common Council chambers are 

outdated, inefficient, and not compatible with current technologies needed for the modern needs 

for the conduct of the meetings and communication with the community; and 

WHEREAS, the passage of the American Rescue Plan Act presents a unique opportunity 

to replace the system which is in need of replacement; and  

WHEREAS, the cost to replace the Audio-Video (AV) system in the Common Council 

chambers and other improvements is estimated to be Three Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand and 

00\100 Dollars ($325,000.00); and  

WHEREAS, the Administration requests that the Common Council of the City of Elkhart 

appropriate the sum of Three Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand and 00\100 Dollars ($325,000.00) 

from the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to the Provision of Government Services 

account; and  

WHEREAS, the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund contains funds sufficient 

and appropriate for the project; and  

WHEREAS, the possibility exists that funds may remain if the project is completed under 

the budgeted and appropriated amount; and  

WHEREAS, any ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund monies which are not 

dedicated to a committed and ARP-qualified project of the City must be returned to the federal 

government; and  

WHEREAS, the LaSalle, McKinley & Benham Water & Sewer Project is an ongoing and 

dedicated project of the City, qualified for use of ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Funds, 

and which can utilize toward the qualified project costs, any funds which remain upon completion 

of the project for which this appropriation is made. 



Page 3 of 4 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1.  The amount of Three Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand and 00\100 Dollars 

($325,000.00) be, and hereby is, appropriated from the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery 

Fund and assigned to the following account line:  

Account No. 2474-5-600-4390061  Provision of Government Services   $325,000.00 

Section 2.  If, upon completion of the project described in this appropriation ordinance, any 

portion of the Three Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand and 00\100 Dollars ($325,000.00) remains 

unused, the remaining funds shall be transferred by the City Controller to the following account 

line for use in the LaSalle, McKinley & Benham Water & Sewer Project: 

Account No. 176-5-000-442.0000  Utilities & Infrastructure  

Section 3.  The Common Council has fixed the ____ day of ________________, _____, at 

6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, as the date, time and place when the Common Council will 

consider and determine the appropriation, and all taxpayers and interested persons will have the 

opportunity to appear and express their views. 

Section 4.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor according to law.  

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.] 



Page 4 of 4 

SO ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 

           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this  day of    ,    

at_________ a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 



Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-46 

P a g e  | 1 of 5 

M E M O R A N D U M

DATE: October 22, 2024 

TO: Common Council 

FROM: Michael J. Huber, Development Services Director 

RE: Proposed Ordinance to Appropriate ARP Funds for Benham Neighborhood Plan 
Implementation 

Ordinance number 5882 was passed by the Elkhart Common Council with the purpose of allocating 
$75,000 from the City’s ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund toward the completion of a 
Neighborhood Master Plan for South-Central Elkhart. In 2023/2024 the City Development Services 
Team worked in Partnership with the Elkhart Chamber of Commerce and the University of Notre Dame 
School of Architecture to facilitate a planning process to restore Benham West, regenerate the surviving 
community and reconnect activity within the neighborhood as well as to the city beyond. Multiple 
community organizations came together in funding the process collaboratively, and the City was not 
required to utilize the resources allocated with this ordinance. 

Since the completion of the planning process, the Elkhart Chamber of Commerce has maintained a focus 
on seeing the implementation of the Plan strategies and has dedicated staff specific to leading a 
collaborative implementation effort in the community. The Chamber has applied from and received 
funding from the Community Foundation of Elkhart County to serve as a lead organization coordinating 
implementation efforts, ensuring productive collaboration and creating pathways for the private and 
public sectors to come together to implement the redevelopment of the Benham Neighborhood to its 
fullest potential. 

Given the multitude of projects and activities that the Development Services Team are currently tasked 
with, it is challenging for our staff to maintain the level of focus on leading the full implementation 
efforts. The included scope details the specific tasks and timeline that the Chamber will be responsible 
for managing. Collaborating as an active partner in the process lead by the Chamber is structure that 
maximizes the City’s abilities to contribute to implementation while minimizing some of the barriers 
that come from the City managing all aspects of the project.   

The City of Elkhart Development Services Department is requesting the Elkhart City Common Council to 
consider a re-appropriation of Benham Neighborhood Planning ARP funds to allow the City to enter into 
a contract with the Chamber to manage the collaborative implementation process.



Page 1 of 5 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-46 
 

ORDINANCE NO.     
 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING SEVENTY-FIVE THOUSAND AND 00\100 
DOLLARS ($75,000) FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY 

FUND TO THE PROVISION OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES ACCOUNT TO 
COLLABORATE WITH THE ELKHART CHAMBER OF COMMERCE IN THE 

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE BENHAM NEIGHBORHOOD PLAN 
 

___________________________________ 
 

WHEREAS, the United States Congress passed the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 

and awarded to the City of Elkhart (“City”) funds which may be used for certain authorized uses 

specified under Section 603(c)(1) of the Social Security Act, as added by Section 9901 of the 

ARPA; 

WHEREAS, Section 603(c)(1) of the Social Security Act, as added          by Section 9901 of the 

American Rescue Plan Act   of 2021, designates the following authorized uses: 

(A) to respond to the public health emergency with respect to the Coronavirus 
Disease 2019 (COVID–19) or its negative economic impacts, including assistance 
to households,  small businesses, and nonprofits, or aid to impacted industries such 
as tourism, travel, and hospitality; 
(B) to respond to workers performing essential work during the COVID–19 public 
health  emergency by providing premium pay to eligible workers of the metropolitan 
city, nonentitlement unit of local government, or county that are performing such 
essential work, or by providing grants to eligible employers that have eligible 
workers who perform essential work; 
(C) for the provision of government services to the extent of the reduction in 
revenue of such metropolitan city, nonentitlement unit of local government, or 
county due to the COVID–19 public health emergency relative to revenues collected 
in the most recent full fiscal year of the metropolitan city, nonentitlement unit of 
local government, or county prior to the emergency; or 

(D) to make necessary investments in water, sewer, or broadband infrastructure. 
 

WHEREAS, in 2021 the Elkhart Common Council adopted Ordinance No. 5882, 

appropriating Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars ($75,000.00) from the ARP Coronavirus Local 



Page 2 of 5 

Fiscal Recovery Fund for use in completion of the Neighborhood Master Plan for South-Central 

Elkhart; and  

WHEREAS, thereafter the Development Services Department worked in partnership with 

the Elkhart Chamber of Commerce and the University of Notre Dame School of Architecture to 

facilitate a planning process to restore the Benham West neighborhood, regenerate the surviving 

community, and reconnect activity inside and outside of the neighborhood; and 

WHEREAS, the collaboration between the Development Services Department, the 

Chamber of Commerce and the Notre Dame School of Architecture, provided resources to the 

effort which allowed the City to accomplish the planning process without using the funds 

appropriated under Ordinance No. 5882; and  

WHEREAS, subsequent to the planning process, the Elkhart Chamber of Commerce 

received partial funding from the Community Foundation of Elkhart County to serve as lead entity, 

in a continuing collaboration with the City of Elkhart, to coordinate implementation efforts, ensure 

a productive collaboration between the private and public sectors, to implement the redevelopment 

of the Benham Neighborhood as envisioned in the planning process; and 

WHEREAS, the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund has retained the funds 

appropriated under Ordinance No. 5882, which can be used to further advance the objectives of 

the project; and  

WHEREAS, the Administration requests that the Common Council of the City of Elkhart 

appropriate the sum of Seventy-Five Thousand and 00\100 Dollars ($75,000.00) from the ARP 

Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to fund a further collaboration with the Elkhart Chamber 

of Commerce to serve as lead entity, in the ongoing collaboration with the City of Elkhart, 

specifically, to ensure a productive collaboration between the private and public sectors, in the 



Page 3 of 5 

implementation of the redevelopment plan for the Benham neighborhood of the City of Elkhart; 

and  

WHEREAS, the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund contains funds sufficient 

and appropriate for the project; and  

WHEREAS, the possibility exists that funds may remain if the project is completed under 

the budgeted and appropriated amount; and  

WHEREAS, any ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund monies which are not 

dedicated to a committed and ARP-qualified project of the City must be returned to the federal 

government; and  

WHEREAS, the LaSalle, McKinley & Benham Water & Sewer Project is an ongoing and 

dedicated project of the City, qualified for use of ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Funds, 

and which can utilize toward the qualified project costs, any funds which remain upon completion 

of the project for which this appropriation is made. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1.  The amount of Seventy-Five Thousand and 00\100 Dollars ($75,000.00) be, 

and hereby is, appropriated from the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund and assigned 

to the following account line:  

Account No. 2474-5-600-4390061  Provision of Government Services   $75,000.00 

 Section 2.  If, upon completion of the project described in this appropriation ordinance, any 

portion of the Seventy-Five Thousand and 00\100 Dollars ($75,000.00) remains unused, the 

remaining funds shall be transferred by the City Controller to the following account line for use in 

the LaSalle, McKinley & Benham Water & Sewer Project: 

Account No. 176-5-000-442.0000  Utilities & Infrastructure  



Page 4 of 5 

Section 3.  The Common Council has fixed the ____ day of ________________, _____, at 

6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, as the date, time and place when the Common Council will 

consider and determine the appropriation, and all taxpayers and interested persons will have the 

opportunity to appear and express their views. 

 Section 4.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor according to law.  

 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.] 

  



Page 5 of 5 

SO ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 

           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this  day of    ,    

at_________ a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 











Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-47 

P a g e  | 1 of 2 

M E M O R A N D U M

DATE: October 22, 2024 

TO: Common Council 

FROM: Michael J. Huber, Development Services Director 

RE: Proposed Ordinance to Appropriate ARP Funds for the Institute for Entrepreneurial 
Communities 

Ordinance number 5883 was passed by the Elkhart Common Council with the purpose of allocating 
$900,000 from the City’s ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund toward activities related to a five 
year business strategy to attract and grow, not only the RV industry supply chain, but to diversify and 
develop other regionally relevant businesses including electronics, plastics, information technology and 
transportation and logistics with a focus on the West Business Park Area of the City. A specific 
opportunity that presented at the time of the allocation of the funds was a program offering of the 
Indiana Economic Development Corporation (IEDC) knows as the Emerging Manufacturing Collaboration 
Center (EMC2) program. This was based on a model initiated outside of Indianapolis with a goal of 
identifying opportunities to replicate the model in other parts of the state. However, due to multiple 
staff and administrative changes within the IEDC, the EMC2 program and its funding was incorporated 
into other IEDC program opportunities.  

Entrepreneurship is at the heart of Elkhart’s economic history. Local leaders and innovators from within 
our community have shaped the future of regional and global industry, and have laid the footprint by 
which we live and work in our community. Entrepreneurship also holds the key to our ability to meet 
our future industry diversification goals. Nationwide entrepreneurship has experienced ebbs and flows 
in the past few decades. Entrepreneurship is often measured in startups, yet, long-term success of 
proprietary businesses may be a far stronger indicator of successful entrepreneurship. And, despite the 
recent uptick in startup activity, we acknowledge the potential fragility of entrepreneurship that 
threatens a key driver of economic strength for American communities. 

The Institute for Entrepreneurial Communities (IEC) aims to identify and study communities that are 
long standing hotbeds of entrepreneurship and then to understand the impact of entrepreneurism on all 
aspects of the community. This Institute is taking a unique look into the interplay between 
entrepreneurs within a community, seeking to understand why entrepreneurism flourishes within 
specific regions across the United States. At present, most research measures startups, which includes 
sole proprietors. Yet sustained entrepreneurship with significant employment makes the strongest 



Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-47 

P a g e  | 2 of 2 

impact on vibrant communities. The Institute has enlisted top researchers from various universities to 
initiate innovative research on a pilot community that has long been considered a hotbed of 
entrepreneurial activity. The pilot community has a legacy of successful entrepreneurship serving 
many industries. Although it is a comparatively small county, it is among the highest performing 
counties in terms of industry - Elkhart, Indiana. The Institute has engaged in quantitative research with 
academic institutions such as Ball State University, Butler University, and The Catholic University of 
Americas to further our understanding of entrepreneurial communities and success factors. 

The Institute is an initiative envisioned and advised by civic leaders and successful entrepreneurs in 
Elkhart, Indiana. Operations of the Institute are led by enFocus Inc under the direction of Andrew 
Wiand, President. The Institute is led by a board of local advisors who are responsible for setting the 
direction and guiding the operations team, including the following individuals: 

• Liz Borger, Stifel
• Ryan Brady, Alliance RV
• Ashley Martin, NIBCO
• Jack B. Smith, Jr., Gaska Tape
• David Smith III, Talon Products

As a collaborator in the institute, the City will gain tremendous insight and value derived by the 
research components of the Institute’s work. This research is designed to offer a deep understanding of 
how firm structures and industry clusters influence regional economic well-being, providing valuable 
insights for both entrepreneurs and economic development leaders. Additionally, the research should 
shed light on the complex dynamics of entrepreneurship, with a particular focus on how quality of life 
and local amenities shape the entrepreneurial landscape across the United States. As the City is faced 
with the threat of future job losses related to automation of many manufacturing work processes, a 
thorough understanding of the entrepreneurial ecosystem can help the guide the City to identify future 
industry clusters for Elkhart’s economy 4.0. 

The City of Elkhart Development Services Department is requesting the Elkhart City Common Council to 
consider a re-appropriation of $150,000 from the West Business Park Expansion ARP funds to allow the 
City to enter into a contract with the Institute for Entrepreneurial Communities to implement ongoing 
research activities related to strengthening our local ecosystem and guiding future cluster investments. 



Page 1 of 5 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-47 
 

ORDINANCE NO.     
 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING ONE HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND AND 00\100 
DOLLARS ($150,000.00) FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL 

RECOVERY FUND TO THE NEGATIVE ECONOMIC IMPACT ACCOUNT TO FUND 
A COLLABORATION WITH THE INSTITUTE FOR ENTREPRENEURIAL 

COMMUNITIES 
 

___________________________________ 
 

WHEREAS, the United States Congress passed the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 

and awarded to the City of Elkhart (“City”) funds which may be used for certain authorized uses 

specified under Section 603(c)(1) of the Social Security Act, as added by Section 9901 of the 

ARPA; 

WHEREAS, Section 603(c)(1) of the Social Security Act, as added          by Section 9901 of the 

American Rescue Plan Act   of 2021, designates the following authorized uses: 

(A) to respond to the public health emergency with respect to the Coronavirus 
Disease 2019 (COVID–19) or its negative economic impacts, including assistance 
to households,  small businesses, and nonprofits, or aid to impacted industries such 
as tourism, travel, and hospitality; 
(B) to respond to workers performing essential work during the COVID–19 public 
health  emergency by providing premium pay to eligible workers of the metropolitan 
city, nonentitlement unit of local government, or county that are performing such 
essential work, or by providing grants to eligible employers that have eligible 
workers who perform essential work; 
(C) for the provision of government services to the extent of the reduction in 
revenue of such metropolitan city, nonentitlement unit of local government, or 
county due to the COVID–19 public health emergency relative to revenues collected 
in the most recent full fiscal year of the metropolitan city, nonentitlement unit of 
local government, or county prior to the emergency; or 

(D) to make necessary investments in water, sewer, or broadband infrastructure. 
 

 



Page 2 of 5 

WHEREAS, entrepreneurship is at the heart of Elkhart’s economic history; and, 

notwithstanding the City’s proud entrepreneurial past and the recent increase in new 

entrepreneurial activity, the Common Council recognizes the fragility of entrepreneurship and the 

threat that complacency poses to the continuation of economic growth for all American 

communities, and Elkhart, in particular; and  

WHEREAS, the Institute for Entrepreneurial Communities (IEC) is a local initiative, 

formed by civic leaders, and a group of highly successful local entrepreneurs, have agreed to 

collaborate with various accomplished academic researchers from various universities in a study 

to identify and understand the impact of entrepreneurism on all aspects of the community, and the 

factors which cause entrepreneurism flourishes within specific communities and regions across the 

United States; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Elkhart Development Services Department has requested that the 

Common Council appropriate One Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00\100 Dollars ($150,000.00) to 

allow the City to contract with the Institute for Entrepreneurial Communities to advance ongoing 

research activities related to opportunities to strengthen our local ecosystem and guide future 

cluster investments; and  

WHEREAS, the Department of Development Services believes that a collaboration with 

the Institute for Entrepreneurial Communities will allow the City of Elkhart to gain valuable 

insights from the research components of the Institute’s work and shed light on the complex 

dynamics of entrepreneurship, with a particular focus on the ways in which quality of life and local 

amenities shape the entrepreneurial landscape across the United States; and  

WHEREAS, the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund contains funds sufficient 

and appropriate for the project; and  



Page 3 of 5 

WHEREAS, the possibility exists that funds may remain if the project is completed under 

the budgeted and appropriated amount; and  

WHEREAS, any ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund monies which are not 

dedicated to a committed and ARP-qualified project of the City must be returned to the federal 

government; and  

WHEREAS, the LaSalle, McKinley & Benham Water & Sewer Project is an ongoing and 

dedicated project of the City, qualified for use of ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Funds, 

and which can utilize toward the qualified project costs, any funds which remain upon completion 

of the project for which this appropriation is made. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1.  The amount of One Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00\100 Dollars ($150,000.00) 

be, and hereby is, appropriated from the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund and 

assigned to the following account line:  

Account No. 2474-5-000-4390501     Negative Economic Impact     $150,000.00 

 Section 2.  If, upon completion of the project described in this appropriation ordinance, any 

portion of the One Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00\100 Dollars ($150,000.00) remains unused, 

the remaining funds shall be transferred by the City Controller to the following account line for 

use in the LaSalle, McKinley & Benham Water & Sewer Project: 

Account No. 176-5-000-442.0000  Utilities & Infrastructure  

Section 3.  The Common Council has fixed the ____ day of ________________, _____, at 

6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, as the date, time and place when the Common Council will 

consider and determine the appropriation, and all taxpayers and interested persons will have the 

opportunity to appear and express their views. 



Page 4 of 5 

 Section 4.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor according to law.  

 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.] 

  



Page 5 of 5 

SO ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 

           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this  day of    ,    

at_________ a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 



in partnership with:

Compiled by:
Shivangi Tiwari, Financial Analyst

Ayush Sindhwani, Innovation Fellow
October 2024



Exhibit A: Initiative Summary
Institute for Entrepreneurial Communities
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________
 

Background and Need 

The Institute for Entrepreneurial Communities (IEC) aims to identify and study communities
that are long standing hotbeds of entrepreneurship and then to understand the impact of
entrepreneurism on all aspects of the community. By examining Elkhart as a pilot
community, the Institute is taking a unique look into the interplay between entrepreneurs
within a community, seeking to understand why entrepreneurism flourishes within specific
regions across the United States.

The City of Elkhart, renowned for its entrepreneurial spirit, is sponsoring research led by
the Institute. The research projects will focus on identifying and analyzing key drivers of
entrepreneurial success within Elkhart, which outperforms many in terms of industry
clusters despite its relatively small population. Nationwide entrepreneurship has
experienced ebbs and flows in the past few decades. The Institute's purpose is to honor the
civic impact of innovation by recognizing thriving communities to perpetuate the cycle of
entrepreneurism.

This is particularly important and relevant for the City of Elkhart’s economic development
priorities. Through the sponsored research, academic partners aim to study not just the
impact of startups which is most commonly used as a measure of entrepreneurship but
also understand the factors and impact of sustained businesses which may be a far
stronger indicator of successful entrepreneurship.

Additionally, the Institute also aims to celebrate the entrepreneurial spirit present within
the City of Elkhart by celebrating the research findings and hosting signature events that
will bring together entrepreneurs, academics, civic leaders, and students. Headquartered in
the City of Elkhart, the Institute will serve to increase awareness and appreciation for the
positive impact of entrepreneurship on American communities

1

http://theiec.org


Objective 

By analyzing local industry clusters and entrepreneurial activity, the research aims to
provide insights into how sustained entrepreneurship can drive economic and social
well-being in the future within the City of Elkhart and in comparable regions.

Preliminary Scope & Approach

The research will entail a quantitative deep dive into the City of Elkhart (or Elkhart County
based on the Census MSA data availability). The approach includes:

● Conducting a literature review on entrepreneurship and its definition.
● Collecting and analyzing historical data on industry clusters.
● Provide a data-driven approach to identifying factors contributing to Elkhart’s

entrepreneurial success.
● Benchmark Elkhart County’s performance against other similar communities to

understand its comparative strengths and opportunities for growth.

The research, through collaboration with academic partners, will align with the IEC’s
mission and the City of Elkhart’s priorities.

Key Activities:  

Literature Review and Definition of Entrepreneurial Communities:

● Conduct a literature review on entrepreneurial communities and summarize
definitions and parameters.

● Study quality of life factors, amenities, and their impact on entrepreneurial activity
from 1990-2020.

Data Collection and Analysis of Entrepreneurial Archetypes:

● Collect and analyze county-level data across the U.S. on entrepreneurial community
parameters, clustering, and quality of life indicators.

● Develop archetypes based on industry clusters, linking them to quality of life and
economic factors.

● Identify the archetype that Elkhart falls in and others that may be similar to Elkhart.

Analysis of Entrepreneurship and Quality of Life:

2



● Analyze quality of life and amenity distribution impacts on entrepreneurial activity
from 1990-2020 across counties, in particular Elkhart.

○ These include, but would not be limited to, work at home, self- employment,
new business starts, and small business growth as proxies for
entrepreneurship.

● Compare quality of life impacts across different geographies (e.g., rural, urban) and
analyze the influence of local amenities.

● Evaluate the role of state/local taxes on entrepreneurial growth, assessing both
ecosystem (quality of life) and tradable clusters.

Benchmarking and Comparative Analysis:

● Benchmarking Elkhart County’s performance against similar counties or regions in
terms of industry clusters, entrepreneurship, and economic growth.

● Identifying strengths, weaknesses, and opportunities for Elkhart’s continued
development as an entrepreneurial hub.

Presentation and Publication of Findings:

● Prepare a detailed research report summarizing findings, benchmarking analysis,
and stakeholder insights.

● Share findings with the City of Elkhart and other stakeholders.
● Present insights through academic publications and celebratory events.

Key Research Deliverables: 

● Research Report and Business Article(s): A detailed research report and co-published
business articles including findings specific to Elkhart. The report will identify the
success factors for Elkhart’s entrepreneurial spirit and the ability to impact policy to
continue the trend.

● Benchmarking Analysis: A comparative analysis that benchmarks Elkhart County’s
performance against other counties, highlighting unique factors contributing to its
success. Additionally, communities similar to Elkhart will be identified.

● Presentation to Stakeholders: A final presentation summarizing the research findings,
key insights, and recommendations for the City of Elkhart, IEC, and other community
stakeholders, as appropriate. The timeline of the presentation from Butler University
and Ball State University research partners will be late 2024 through Spring of 2025 as
required by City of Elkhart stakeholders.

 

Sponsorship

3



This initiative supported by the City of Elkhart is for $150,000 to be used for research
sponsored by the Institute for Entrepreneurial Communities and celebratory events within
the City of Elkhart due at the execution of the contract.

Team and Resources
The Institute has engaged with academic institutions such as Ball State University, Butler
University, and The Catholic University of Americas to further our understanding of
entrepreneurial communities and success factors. By building a strong network of
academic partners, the Institute aims to conduct objective research to showcase anecdotal
knowledge to data-driven findings.

Communications Management Plan
To ensure seamless communication throughout the project, the Institute proposes that
communications be carried out as detailed below:
● Ad-hoc communication: As necessary, the Institute will communicate with the City of

Elkhart’s Development Services department to share findings via email, telephone
communications, and update meetings.

● Deliverable validation: Meeting at the completion of the research projects to review
deliverables.

Pivots
enFocus and Institute for Entrepreneurial Communities place value on our entrepreneurial
focus and approach to projects. We have had historical success for sponsors when we
reserve the option to initiate conversation with the sponsor for a project pivot when we see
a better path or opportunity to pursue that can lead to greater success. This is not meant
to negate the project responsibility of the Institute for Entrepreneurial Communities, but
rather to create a scenario that will produce the most valued outcome for all parties.
Institute for Entrepreneurial Communities and the City of Elkhart will agree to any project
pivot(s) in advance.

4



Letter of Engagement
Research Sponsorship Terms

We want you to understand the basis under which we agree to fund you and your
research, as well as to clarify the relationship and responsibilities between your
organization and the Institute of Entrepreneurial Communities. These terms are part
of our engagement letter and apply to all future services, unless a specific engagement
letter is entered for those services. Each of these terms shall survive and apply after
termination of this agreement.

RESEARCH AGREEMENT

This Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered on or about the 29th day of October
2024, by and between City of Elkhart, having its principal offices at [Address]
(hereinafter referred to as “Sponsor”), and enFocus Inc., d/b/a the Institute for
Entrepreneurial Communities, having its principal offices at 635 S Lafayette Boulevard,
South Bend, IN 46601 (hereinafter referred to as “Beneficiary”).

WHEREAS, the Sponsor desires to obtain the services of Beneficiary on its own behalf and
on behalf of all existing and future Affiliated Companies (defined as any corporation or
other business entity or entities that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with the Sponsor), and Beneficiary desires to provide services to
the Sponsor upon the terms and conditions in this Agreement.

AGREEMENTS

SECTION 1 – RESEARCH PERIOD
(a) Term - The Sponsor hereby retains the Beneficiary and Beneficiary agrees to render
to the Sponsor those services described in the Initiative Summary, Exhibit A, incorporated
by reference and attached hereto, for the period (the “Contractual Period”) commencing on
[start date] and ending on [end date.]

(b) Termination - At any time, either party may terminate, without liability, the
Contractual Period for any reason, with or without cause, by giving 60 days advance written

5



notice to the other party. The Sponsor shall pay Beneficiary the compensation to which the
Beneficiary is entitled pursuant to Exhibit A.

SECTION 2 – DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
(a) Beneficiary hereby agrees to provide and perform for the Sponsor those services set
forth in Exhibit A.

(b) Sponsor hereby agrees to provide compensation and reimbursement for travel and
other reasonable business expenses incurred by Beneficiary under the scope of this
agreement if and only if negotiated in advance with the Sponsor.

SECTION 3 – COMPENSATION, PAYMENT, BENEFITS
(a) Compensation in consideration of the services to be rendered hereunder, including,
without limitation, services to any Affiliated Company, Sponsor shall pay a project fee of
$150,000 dollars to Beneficiary and reimburse travel incurred by the Beneficiary, as
detailed in Exhibit A.

(b) Payment Terms. Sponsor agrees to pay dollars to Beneficiary, as detailed in Exhibit
A. Invoices shall be presented at agreed upon (detailed in Exhibit A) payments are due
within 30 days.

(c) Benefits. Other than the compensation specified in Sections 3(a), Beneficiary shall
not be entitled to any direct or indirect compensation for services performed hereunder

SECTION 4 - CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION
(a) “Confidential Information” means:

(1) any information given to Beneficiary by Sponsor and clearly marked, in
writing as confidential; and
(2) any information given to Beneficiary by Sponsor orally that, at the time given,
is stated to be confidential, and reduced to writing within thirty (30) days.

(b) enFocus agrees:
(1) to keep Confidential Information confidential, return information to the
Sponsor upon the terms end-date, and destroy Confidential Information after a
period of 5 years from the date given to enFocus;
(2) not to make use of Confidential Information for any purpose other than to
carry out the Beneficiary’s services as specified in Exhibit A;

6



(3) not to give Confidential Information, in any form, to a third party; and
(4) to limit access to Confidential Information to only those Beneficiary’s
employees who have a need to access it for the performance of the services under
this Agreement.

(c) The confidentiality, as stated in SECTION 4 (b), will not apply to information which:
(1) is at the time of receipt public knowledge, or after receipt becomes public
knowledge through no act of omission on the part of enFocus;
(2) was known to Beneficiary, as shown by written records, prior to disclosure by
Sponsor;
(3) is received by Beneficiary from a third party who did not obtain the
information from Sponsor; or
(4) is required by law.

Beneficiary hereby acknowledges and agrees that all property, including, all books,
manuals, records, reports, notes, contracts, lists, blueprints, and other documents, or
materials, or copies thereof, that is produced under this Agreement is Proprietary
Information (as defined herein), and equipment furnished to or prepared by Beneficiary in
the course of or incident to rendering of services to the Sponsor, belong to the Sponsor
and shall be promptly returned to the Sponsor upon request.

(d) Beneficiary agrees to hold all Sponsor’s Proprietary Information in strict confidence
and trust for the sole benefit of the Sponsor and not to, disclose, use, copy, publish,
summarize, or remove from Sponsor’s premises any Proprietary Information (or remove
from the premises any other property of the Sponsor) during the Contractual Period except
(i) to the extent necessary to carry out Beneficiary’s responsibilities under this Agreement
or (ii) after termination of the Contractual Period or (iii) when the information falls within
the guidelines of this agreement.

SECTION 5 – NOTICES
All notices or other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be made in
writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if delivered by hand or mailed,
postage prepaid, by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, and addressed to
the Sponsor at:

ATTN: Mike Huber, Director of Development Services
City of Elkhart,

7



229 S 2nd St,
Elkhart, IN 46516

or to the Beneficiary at:

Andrew Wiand, President
Institute of Entrepreneurial Communities
enFocus, Inc.
635 S Lafayette Boulevard, Suite 105
South Bend, IN 46601

Notice of change of address shall be effective only when done in writing and sent in
accordance with the provisions of this Section.

SECTION 6 - AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS
This Agreement may not be modified, amended, or terminated except by an instrument in
writing, signed by a duly authorized representative of the Sponsor and the Beneficiary. By
an instrument in writing similarly executed, either party may waive compliance by the other
party with any provision of this Agreement that such other party was or is obligated to
comply with or perform, provided, however, that such waiver shall not operate as a waiver
of, or estoppel with respect to, any other or subsequent failure. No failure to exercise and
no delay in exercising any right, remedy, or power hereunder shall operate as a waiver
thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, remedy, or power hereunder
preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, remedy, or
power provided herein or by law or in equity.

SECTION 7 – INTERRUPTION OF SERVICE
Either party shall be excused from any delay or failure in performance required hereunder
if caused by reason of any occurrence or contingency beyond its reasonable control,
including but not limited to, acts of God, acts of war, fire, insurrection, law proclamations,
edits, ordinances or regulations, strikes, lock-outs or other serious labor disputes, riots,
earthquakes, floods, explosions or other acts of nature. The obligations and rights of the
party so excused shall be extended on a day-to-day basis for the time period equal to the
period of such excusable interruption. When such events have abated, the parties’
respective obligations hereunder shall resume.

8



SECTION 8 – SEVERABILITY, ENFORCEABILITY
If any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any person, place, or
circumstance, shall be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid,
unenforceable, or void, the remainder of this Agreement and such provisions as applied to
other persons, places, and circumstances shall remain in full force and effect.

SECTION 9 – GOVERNING LAW
The validity, interpretation, enforceability, and performance of this Agreement shall be
governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Indiana. Any
dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be subject to the sole and
exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the Superior and Circuit Courts of St. Joseph County,
Indiana, and the parties hereby expressly consent to the sole and exclusive jurisdiction and
venue of these courts.

SECTION 10 – INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR
The Beneficiary shall operate at all times as an independent contractor of the Sponsor. This
Agreement does not authorize the Beneficiary to act for the Sponsor as its agent or to
make commitments on behalf of the Sponsor. The Sponsor shall not withhold payroll taxes,
and Beneficiary shall not be covered by health, life, disability, or worker’s compensation
insurance of the Sponsor.

SECTION 11 – ABILITY TO ENTER INTO CONTRACT
Each party represents and warrants to the other party that this Agreement has been duly
authorized, executed and delivered and that the performance of its obligations under this
Agreement does not conflict with any order, law, rule or regulation or any agreement or
understanding by which such party is bound.

SECTION 12 – LIMITATION OF LIABILITY; INDEMNIFICATION.
(a) As a professional organization, the Beneficiary will perform the services described in
Exhibit A to the best of their ability, striving to ensure great quality work and minimize
errors or omissions. As a result, the Beneficiary shall not be liable to sponsor for any loss
incurred in the performance of his/her services hereunder unless caused by Beneficiary’s
negligence or willful misconduct. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the limit of
Beneficiary’s liability under this Agreement will be equal to the total amount paid by
Sponsor to Beneficiary under this Agreement.

9



(b) Sponsor agrees, at its sole expense, to indemnify and defend Beneficiary from and
against any damages, claims, or suit by third parties against Beneficiary arising from the
performance of Beneficiary’s services hereunder unless caused by Beneficiary’s negligence
or willful misconduct. Subject to the limitation of liability stated in Section 12(a), Beneficiary
agrees, at its sole cost, to indemnify and defend Sponsor (and its officials, employees, and
agents) from and against any damages, claims or suits by third parties against Sponsor
arising from the performance of Beneficiary’s services hereunder unless caused by the
negligence of Sponsor (or its officials, employees, or agents).

SECTION 13 – ENTIRE AGREEMENT
The terms of this Agreement are intended by the parties to be in the final expression of
their agreement with respect to the retention of Beneficiary by the Sponsor and may not be
contradicted by evidence of any prior or contemporaneous agreement.

10



The parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date first written above:

SPONSOR:

Name:

Signature:

Title:

Date:

enFocus, Inc d/b/a Insitute for Entrepreneurial Communities:

Name:

Signature:

Title:

Date:

11



Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-48 

229 S 2ND ST, ELKHART, IN 46516 
T 574.294.5471 U ELKHARTINDIANA.ORG 

Pro

Memorandum 
To:   Common Council 
From:  Jamie Arce, CPA, City Controller  
Date:  October 30, 2024 
Re:  City Hall HVAC  

Previously, the Common Council approved a $1,500,000 appropriation from the American Rescue Plan (ARP) 
Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to replace and upgrade the City Hall HVAC system. 

As you know, the current HVAC system is outdated, inefficient, and prone to frequent failures. These failures 
often result in uncomfortable conditions within City Hall, with areas lacking either heating or cooling. 

Given these ongoing issues and our commitment to a citywide maintenance program, the administration 
believes this ARP funding is an excellent use of resources. It will provide a necessary upgrade to City Hall, 
ensuring a comfortable environment for all employees and visitors. 

We respectfully request your reaffirmation of this appropriation. A member of the administration will be 
available to answer any questions. 



Page 1 of 4 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-48 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING ONE MILLION FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND 
AND 00\100 DOLLARS ($1,500,000.00) FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL 

FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE PROVISION OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES 
ACCOUNT TO UPGRADE THE HEATING, VENTILATION, AND AIR 

CONDITIONING (HVAC) SYSTEM OF CITY HALL 

___________________________________ 

WHEREAS, the United States Congress passed the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 

and awarded to the City of Elkhart (“City”) funds which may be used for certain authorized uses 

specified under Section 603(c)(1) of the Social Security Act, as added by Section 9901 of the 

ARPA; 

WHEREAS, Section 603(c)(1) of the Social Security Act, as added          by Section 9901 of the 

American Rescue Plan Act   of 2021, designates the following authorized uses: 

(A) to respond to the public health emergency with respect to the Coronavirus
Disease 2019 (COVID–19) or its negative economic impacts, including assistance
to households,  small businesses, and nonprofits, or aid to impacted industries such
as tourism, travel, and hospitality;
(B) to respond to workers performing essential work during the COVID–19 public
health  emergency by providing premium pay to eligible workers of the metropolitan
city, nonentitlement unit of local government, or county that are performing such
essential work, or by providing grants to eligible employers that have eligible
workers who perform essential work;
(C) for the provision of government services to the extent of the reduction in
revenue of such metropolitan city, nonentitlement unit of local government, or
county due to the COVID–19 public health emergency relative to revenues collected
in the most recent full fiscal year of the metropolitan city, nonentitlement unit of
local government, or county prior to the emergency; or
(D) to make necessary investments in water, sewer, or broadband infrastructure.

WHEREAS, the heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) system in City Hall 

are outdated, inefficient, and frequently ineffective with periodic system failures; and 



Page 2 of 4 

WHEREAS, the passage of the American Rescue Plan Act presents a unique opportunity 

to replace the system which is in need of replacement; and  

WHEREAS, the cost to replace the heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) 

system in City Hall is estimated to be One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars 

($1,500,000.00); and  

WHEREAS, the Administration requests that the Common Council of the City of Elkhart 

appropriate the sum of One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,500,000.00) from the 

ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to the Provision of Government Services account; 

and  

WHEREAS, the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund contains funds sufficient 

and appropriate for the project; and  

WHEREAS, the possibility exists that funds may remain if the project is completed under 

the budgeted and appropriated amount; and  

WHEREAS, any ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund monies which are not 

dedicated to a committed and ARP-qualified project of the City must be returned to the federal 

government; and  

WHEREAS, the LaSalle, McKinley & Benham Water & Sewer Project is an ongoing and 

dedicated project of the City, qualified for use of ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Funds, 

and which can utilize toward the qualified project costs, any funds which remain upon completion 

of the project for which this appropriation is made. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 



Page 3 of 4 

Section 1.  The amount of One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,500,000.00) 

be, and hereby is, appropriated from the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund and 

assigned to the following account line:  

Account No. 2474-5-600-4390061  Provision of Government Services   $1,500,000.00 

 Section 2.  If, upon completion of the project described in this appropriation ordinance, any 

portion of the One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,500,000.00) remains unused, the 

remaining funds shall be transferred by the City Controller to the following account line for use in 

the LaSalle, McKinley & Benham Water & Sewer Project: 

Account No. 176-5-000-442.0000  Utilities & Infrastructure  

Section 3.  The Common Council has fixed the ____ day of ________________, _____, at 

6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, as the date, time and place when the Common Council will 

consider and determine the appropriation, and all taxpayers and interested persons will have the 

opportunity to appear and express their views. 

 Section 4.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor according to law.  

 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.] 

  



Page 4 of 4 

SO ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 

           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this  day of    ,    

at_________ a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 



Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-51 

 
 
 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M  
 
DATE:  10/31/2024 

TO:  Common Council 

FROM: Corporation Counsel John Espar  

RE: Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-51  
 
RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE DESIGNATION OF AN ECONOMIC REVITALIZATION AREA 
FOR PURPOSES OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN BENEFITS TO CONSOLIDATED METALS, INC. 
\ WESTWOOD MANOR, INC. 
 

 

This Proposed Resolution relates to the Application for Property Tax Phase-In submitted by Consolidated 
Metals, Inc. \ Westwood Manor, Inc. for which this Council previously declared an Economic 
Revitalization Area under Resolution No. R-50-24 at the public meeting held on October 21, 2024. 

This Proposed Resolution 24-R-51 confirms the declaration of an Economic Revitalization Area within 
which Consolidated Metals, Inc. \ Westwood Manor, Inc. proposes to make certain real property and 
personal property investments to increase economic development in the area and in exchange for which 
Consolidated Metals, Inc. \ Westwood Manor, Inc. seeks to receive tax phase-in benefits.

 



Page 1 of 3 

Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-51 

 RESOLUTION NO.   

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, CONFIRMING RESOLUTION NO. R-50-24, WHICH DECLARED A 

CERTAIN AREA IN THE CITY OF ELKHART TO BE AN ECONOMIC 
REVITALIZATION AREA FOR THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN 
BENEFITS TO CONSOLIDATED METALS, INC.  \ WESTWOOD MANOR, INC. 

WHEREAS, on October 21, 2024, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart (the 
"Common Council"), approved and adopted Resolution No. R-50-24, a resolution entitled “A 
Resolution of the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, Declaring a Certain Area to be 
an Economic Revitalization Area For the Purpose of Granting Tax Phase-in Benefits to 
Consolidated Metals, Inc.  \ Westwood Manor, Inc.” (the "Declaratory Resolution"); and 

WHEREAS, the Declaratory Resolution found and determined that a certain area in the 
City of Elkhart (the "Area") was an economic revitalization area within the meaning of Indiana 
Code 6-1.1-12.1, (the "Act") for the purpose of allowing deductions from the assessed value of the 
real estate improvements (the “Project”) and from the assessed value of the manufacturing 
equipment (the “New Equipment”) in the Area; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.5(b) of the Act, the Common Council filed the 
Declaratory Resolution with the Elkhart County Assessor; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.5(c)(1) of the Act, the Common Council published 
notice of the adoption and substance of the Declaratory Resolution in accordance with Indiana 
Code 5-3-1 (the “Notice”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.5(c)(2) of the Act, the Common Council filed a copy of 
the Notice and a copy of the Statement of Benefits form filed by Consolidated Metals, Inc. \ 
Westwood Manor, Inc., with the officers of the taxing units who are authorized to fix budgets, tax 
rates and tax levies in the Area; and 

WHEREAS, at a public hearing held by the Common Council on this date, November 4, 
2024, at the City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, Elkhart, Indiana, the Common Council heard all 
persons interested in the proceedings and received any written remonstrances and objections, and 
considered those remonstrances and objections, if any, and such other evidence presented; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council now desires to take final action and confirm the 
necessary findings in accordance with Section 2.5, Section 3 and Section 4.5 of the Act; 



Page 2 of 3 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, 
Indiana, as follows: 

1. After considering the evidence presented at the public hearing on this date, November 
4, 2024, the Common Council hereby finds that the Declaratory Resolution should be, and hereby 
is, confirmed in its entirety and without modification. 

2.  This Resolution constitutes final action, pursuant to Section 2.5(c) of the Act, by the 
Common Council determining the public utility and benefit of the Project and the New Equipment 
in the Area, confirming the Declaratory Resolution, and declaring the Area an economic 
revitalization area pursuant to the Act. 

 RESOLVED this ____ day of ________________, ______. 

 
____________________________________ 
Arvis Dawson 

     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at  
  a.m./p.m. 
 

 
_____________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 

 
 
 APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, ______. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor for the City of Elkhart 

ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
  



Page 3 of 3 

STATE OF INDIANA ) 
)  § 

COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 
I, Debra D. Barrett, Clerk of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, do hereby certify the above is a 

full, true and complete copy of Resolution No. R-____, adopted by the Common Council on the    
  day of   , ______, by a vote of _______ AYES and _______ NAYS, and was 
approved and signed by the Mayor on the ______ day of    , ______, and now 
remains on file and on record in my office. 

 
WITNESS my hand and the official seal of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, this ____ day of 

____________________, ______. 

 
 

__________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 

 
 

 
 
 
 



Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-52 

M E M O R A N D U M

DATE:  

TO: 

FROM: 

RE: 

10/31/2024 

Common Council 

Corporation Counsel John Espar 

Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-52 
A Resolution Approving the Memoranda of Agreements with Consolidated Metals, Inc. \ 
Westwood Manor, Inc. for Tax Phase-In Benefits 

This resolution relates to the Application for Property Tax Phase-In submitted by Consolidated Metals, Inc. 
\ Westwood Manor, Inc. which was first considered by this Council at its public meeting held on November 
4, 2024. 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-52 approves the corresponding agreements by which Consolidated Metals, Inc. 
\ Westwood Manor, Inc. will enjoy tax phase-in benefits for the real property and personal property 
investments made in the economic revitalization area. Each Memorandum of Agreement likewise 
establishes the legal responsibilities and legal obligations imposed upon Consolidated Metals, Inc. \ 
Westwood Manor, Inc. in exchange for the tax phase-in benefits granted by the City.



Page 1 of 2 
 

 
Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-52 

 
RESOLUTION NO. ________ 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, TO APPROVE TWO MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE 
CITY OF ELKHART AND CONSOLIDATED METALS, INC.  \ WESTWOOD MANOR, 

INC. 
______________________________________ 

 
WHEREAS, Consolidated Metals, Inc. \ Westwood Manor, Inc., (hereinafter, the 

“Applicant”) has filed an application with the City of Elkhart (the “City”) requesting that the 

property commonly known as 3504 Cooper Drive, Elkhart IN 46514, be designated as an economic 

revitalization area by the Common Council of the City of Elkhart (the “Common Council”), in 

accordance with Indiana Code 6.1-1.1-12.1, for the purpose of allowing deductions from the 

assessed value of the proposed real estate improvements (the “Project”) and the proposed 

installation of manufacturing equipment (the “New Equipment”) in the proposed economic 

revitalization area; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s Tax Abatement Policy requires that the Applicant\Property Owner 

(jointly and severally, if not the same entity), enter into a written agreement agreeing: (i) to comply 

with the project description, (ii) to create and retain a certain number of jobs along with the 

associated wages rates and salaries (as shown in its Application), and (iii) to comply with its 

Statement of Benefits forms and any other documents submitted in support of its Application; and 

WHEREAS, a Memorandum of Agreement (Real Property) and a Memorandum of 

Agreement (Personal Property) have been prepared and presented to the Common Council for the 

Project and the New Equipment, respectively, which Agreements govern the relationship between 

the City and the Applicant\Property Owner during the term of the tax abatement; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council believes that it is in the best interest of the City to enter 



Page 2 of 2 
 

into these agreements. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, that the attached Memorandum of Agreement (Real Property) 

and the attached Memorandum of Agreement (Personal Property) to be entered into between the 

City and the Applicant\Property Owner are hereby approved by the Common Council. 

 RESOLVED this ____ day of ________________, _______. 
 

 
____________________________________ 
Arvis Dawson 

     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, _______, at  

  a.m./p.m.  

      _____________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 

 
 
 APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, ______. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor for the City of Elkhart 

ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 

 



 

Page 1 of 7 
 

 MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

Real Estate 

This Memorandum of Agreement (“Agreement”) serves as a confirmation of the good-faith 
commitment by Consolidated Metals, Inc. \ Westwood Manor, Inc., (hereinafter, the “Applicant”) to use its 
reasonable best efforts to implement the Project as described, to create and retain the jobs and pay the wages 
specified in the Applicant’s Property Tax Phase-In Application for designation of certain real property as 
an Economic Revitalization Area, (“Application”), and the Statement of Benefits Real Property 
Improvement (Form SB-1 Real Property), herein after “Statement of Benefits”), and to fulfill its obligations 
set forth within this Agreement (“Applicant's Commitment”). 

 
 1. Commitments of City and Applicant:  
 
  (a) Subject to the requirements under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-3, the City of Elkhart, 
Indiana ("City"), acting by and through its Common Council, agrees to approve a deduction from the 
assessed value of the proposed development of the real estate for five (5) (consecutive) on the Applicant’s 
real property commonly known as 3504 Cooper Drive, Elkhart IN 46514 (hereinafter, the “Subject 
Property”), which is more specifically described in Exhibit A of this Agreement. The amount of the 
deduction from the assessed value of the Subject Property shall be according to the deduction schedule 
shown in Exhibit B of this Agreement (hereinafter, the “Tax Phase-In”). The Tax Phase-In shall start with 
the first year in which the assessed value of the Subject Property increases because of the proposed 
development. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the designation of the Subject Property as an 
economic revitalization area expires on December 31, 2026, and the Project (as hereafter defined) must be 
completed by then in order for the Applicant to be or remain eligible to receive the Tax Phase-In benefits. 
 
  (b) Subject to Section 4 herein, the Applicant agrees that by November 30, 2025, it will 
make a total capital expenditure of Six Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand ($625,000.00) to improve the 
Subject Property with existing building improvements and related improvements at the Subject Property 
(the “Project”), which will create at least 30 new full-time permanent positions with an average annual 
salary of no less than $50,981.00, while retaining  jobs with an average annual salary of no less than , based 
on two thousand forty hours (2,040) annually. The Applicant further agrees to contribute fifteen percent 
(15%) of the amount of real property taxes abated under the Tax Phase-In, which payment will be collected 
by the Elkhart County Treasurer as set forth in the tax invoice statement and remitted to the City. Payment 
of the contribution shall (1) coincide with the due date of property tax payments in Elkhart County as set 
forth in Indiana Code 6-1.1-22-9(a), and (2) shall be due and payable the first time in the year following 
the first year in which the assess value of the subject property increases by reason of the Project and shall 
continue and each year thereafter during the term of the Tax Phase-In deduction period set forth in Exhibit 
B, unless modified by agreement of the City of Elkhart and the Applicant.  
   

2. Applicant’s Compliance with City and State Laws: During the term of the Tax Phase-In, the 
Applicant shall use its good-faith efforts to comply with all applicable provisions of Indiana Code 6-1.1-
12.1. Also, during the term of the Tax Phase-In, the City may annually request information from the 
Applicant concerning the nature of the Project, the costs of the Project and the amount of and average wages 
for the jobs, and the Applicant shall provide the City with adequate written evidence thereof within fifteen 
(15) days of such request ("Annual Survey"). The City shall utilize this information and the information 
provided by the Applicant in the CF-1 Compliance with the Statement of Benefits form to verify that the 
Applicant has complied with the obligations contained in Applicant's Commitment at all times after the 
date thereof until the expiration of the Tax Phase-In. The Applicant further agrees to provide the City with 
such additional information reasonably requested by the City related to the information provided in the 
Annual Survey and the CF-1 form within fifteen (15) days following any such additional request.  



 

Page 2 of 7 
 

 
3. Substantial Compliance and Rights of Termination: The City reserves the right to terminate the 

Economic Revitalization Area designation and the associated Tax Phase-In if it determines that the 
Applicant has not substantially complied with Applicant's Commitment, and the Applicant’s failure to 
substantially comply with Applicant's Commitment was not due to factors beyond its control. As used in 
this Agreement, substantial compliance shall mean: by November 30, 2025, (1) making capital expenditures 
of not less than Ninety-Five Percent (95%) of the capital expenditures referenced in Section 1 above for the 
Project, (2) creating not less than Ninety-five Percent (95%) of the jobs referenced in Section 1 above, and 
(3) those new jobs will have an average annual salary of at least $50,981.00, excluding benefits, while 
retaining the jobs referenced in Section 1 of this Agreement and at the specified average annual rate of pay.  

 
4. Factors Beyond Applicant's Control: As used in this Agreement, factors beyond the control of 

the Applicant shall only include factors that: (i) are not reasonably foreseeable at the time of designation, 
application, and submission of the Statement of Benefits; (ii) are not caused by any grossly negligent act or 
omission of the Applicant; and (iii) do not materially and adversely affect the ability of the Applicant to 
substantially comply with this Agreement.  

 
5. Repayment of Tax Phase-In Savings:  
 
 (a) During the term of this Agreement, if the Applicant: (i) is delinquent or in default 

for a period of sixty (60) days with respect to any tax payment due in Elkhart County, Indiana; or (ii) ceases 
operations at the facility for which the Tax Phase-In was granted for a period longer than thirty (30) 
consecutive days (other than a temporary cessation of operations in the Applicant's normal course of 
business or as a result of a force majeure event); or (iii) announces the cessation of operations at such 
facility for a period longer than thirty (30) consecutive days (other than a temporary cessation of operations 
in the Applicant's normal course of business or as a result of a force majeure event); or otherwise fails to 
comply with the commitments of this Memorandum of Agreement, then the City may terminate the 
Economic Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-In benefits, and upon such 
termination, require the Applicant to repay all of the Tax Phase-In benefits received through the date of 
such termination.  Such repayment of received benefits shall be calculated as provided in Section 5(b). The 
amount of benefit repayment shall be measured against the level of noncompliance, relative to the entire 
abatement period. 

 
 (b) In the event the City terminates this Agreement in accordance with this Section 5, 

the Applicant will be required to repay only that percentage of the Tax Phase-In benefits received through 
the date of termination that is equal to the percentage of the Applicant's noncompliance with Section 1 
above, including unfulfilled years, subsequent to the termination. Applicant shall be entitled to a credit 
against the recalculated tax due for the fifteen percent (15%) tax savings which was allocated to, and 
received by, the City. For purposes of this Agreement, the percentage of the Applicant's noncompliance 
with Section 1 above shall be calculated as follows: the amount of actual investment in each category 
(average annual salary, number of jobs, and personal property investment) shall be divided by 100% 
compliance, to determine Applicant’s compliance rate. The compliance rate then shall be subtracted from 
100% to determine the percentage of noncompliance. The percentage of noncompliance shall equal the 
percentage of benefit repayment. 

 
If the Applicant fails to achieve substantial compliance in more than one category, the category with the 
lowest compliance rate will be used to determine the repayment percentage. 

6. Assessment Appeals.  Neither the Applicant, nor its successors and assigns, shall file any 
property tax assessment appeal, review, or other challenge of the property tax assessment made for the 



 

Page 3 of 7 
 

Project involved during the term of the Tax Phase-In unless one of the following conditions occurs during 
the deduction period: 

 
 (a) the original assessment for the Project as determined by the Elkhart County Assessor 

(“Assessor”) is in excess of the total capital expenditure for the Project as set forth in Section 1 of this 
Agreement; or 

 
 (b) a trending assessment or a reassessment by the Assessor increases the assessment for 

the Project by more than fifteen percent (15%) from one (1) year to the next year, or by more than an 
average of ten percent (10%) per year over two (2) or more years. 

 
7. Notice/Hearing of Termination: In the event that the City determines in accordance with Section 

5 above that (i) the Economic Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-In benefits should 
be terminated or (ii) that all or a portion of the Tax Savings should be repaid, it will give the Applicant 
notice of such determination, including a written statement calculating the amount due from the Applicant, 
and will provide the Applicant with an opportunity to meet with the City’s designated representatives to 
show cause why the Tax Phase-In benefits should not be terminated and/or repaid. Such notice shall state 
the names of the person with whom the Applicant may meet and will provide that the Applicant shall have 
thirty (30) days from the date of such notice to arrange such meeting and to provide its evidence concerning 
why the Tax Phase-In benefits termination and/or repayment should not occur. If, after giving such notice 
and receiving such evidence, if any, the City determines that the Tax Phase-In termination and/or repayment 
action is proper, the Applicant shall be provided with written notice and a hearing before the Common 
Council. Before any final action shall be taken terminating the Tax Phase-In and/or requiring repayment of 
Tax Phase-In benefits, any such action shall be subject to judicial review under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-
5.9(e). 

 
8. Repayment: In the event the City requires repayment of the Tax Phase-In benefits as provided 

following the procedures set forth in Section 7 hereunder, it shall provide Applicant with a written statement 
calculating the amount due ("Statement"), and the Applicant shall repay its actual amount of Tax Phase-In 
benefits to the City within thirty (30) days of the date of the Statement. If the Applicant does not make 
timely repayment, the City shall be entitled to all reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees incurred in the 
enforcement and collection of the Tax Phase-In benefits required to be repaid hereunder. 

 
9. Modification/Entire Agreement: This Agreement and any schedules attached hereto contain the 

entire understanding between the City and the Applicant with respect to the subject matter hereof, and 
supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, inducements, and conditions, 
expressed or implied, oral or written, except as herein contained. This Agreement may not be modified or 
amended other than by an agreement in writing signed by the City and the Applicant. The Applicant 
understands that all filings required to be made or actions required to be taken to initiate or maintain the 
Tax Phase-In are solely the responsibility of the Applicant. 

 
10. Waivers: Neither the failure, nor any delay on the part of the City to exercise any right, remedy, 

power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial 
exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege preclude any other or further exercise of the same or of 
any other right, remedy, power or privilege with respect to any occurrence or be construed as a waiver of 
such right, remedy, power, or privilege with respect to any other occurrence. No waiver shall be effective 
unless it is in writing and is signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver. 

 



 

Page 4 of 7 
 

11. Governing Laws of Indiana: This Agreement and all questions relating to its validity, 
interpretation, performance, and enforcement shall be governed by the laws and decisions of the courts of 
the State of Indiana. 

 
12. Applicant’s Consent to Jurisdiction: The Applicant hereby irrevocably consents to the 

jurisdiction of the Courts of the State of Indiana and of the Elkhart County Circuit or Superior Court in 
connection with any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any documents or 
instrument delivered with respect to any of the obligations hereunder, and any action related to this 
Agreement shall be brought in such County and in such Court. 

 
13. Notices: All notices, requests, demands, and other communications required or permitted under 

this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been received when delivered by hand, by 
facsimile (with confirmation by registered or certified mail), on the next business day following the mailing 
by a nationally recognized overnight commercial courier, or on the third business day following the mailing, 
by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, thereof, addressed as set forth 
below: 

 
If to Applicant: 
 
Consolidated Metals, Inc. 
Sherry Ryan 
Chief Financial Officer 
625 E Twiggs Ste 110 PBM 97617 
Tampa, FL 33607 
 

  
 
Westwood Manor, Inc. 
Charles Cooper 
President 
22114 Alpine Ridge Court 
South Bend, IN 46628 

   
If to the City of Elkhart: 
 
Office of the Mayor 
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516 
 

 Copy to: 
 
Elkhart Common Council 
c/o Administrative Assistant to the Council 
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516 

   
14. Assignment and Transfer Prohibited: This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 

benefit of the City and the Applicant and their successors and assigns, except that no party may assign or 
transfer its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
15. Valid and Binding Agreement: This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 

each of which shall be deemed to be an original as against any party whose signature appears thereon, and 
all of which shall together constitute one and the same instrument. By executing this Agreement, each party 
confirms that each person so executing it has been duly authorized to execute this Agreement on behalf of 
such party and that this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the party. 

 
16. Severability: The provisions of this Agreement and of each section or other subdivision herein 

are independent of and separable from each other, and no provision shall be affected or rendered invalid or 
unenforceable by virtue of the fact that for any reason any other or others of them may be invalid or 
unenforceable in whole or in part unless this Agreement is rendered totally unenforceable thereby. 

 



 

Page 5 of 7 
 

17. No Personal Liability: No official, director, officer, employee or agent of the City shall be 
charged personally by the Applicant, its employees or agents with any liabilities or expenses of defense or 
be held personally liable to the Applicant under any term or provision of this Agreement or because of the 
execution by such party of this Agreement or because of any default by such party hereunder. 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year 

first above written. 

APPLICANT: 
 
Consolidated Metals, Inc. 
625 E Twiggs Ste 110 PBM 97617 
Tampa, FL 33607 
 
By: 
 
      
Sherry Ryan 
Chief Financial Officer 
 
CITY OF ELKHART: 
 
By: 
 
      
Arvis Dawson 
President of the Elkhart Common Council 
 
 
By:     
 
      
Rod Roberson 
Mayor of the City of Elkhart 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
      
John M. Espar 
Corporation Counsel for the City of Elkhart 

  
 
 Westwood Manor, Inc. 
22114 Alpine Ridge Court 
South Bend, IN 46628 
 
 
 
      
Charles Cooper 
President 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Debra Barrett 
Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Debra Barrett 
Elkhart City Clerk 



 

Page 6 of 7 
 

Exhibit A 
Description of Real Property  

(Economic Revitalization Area and Project Area) 

 
Legal Description: 
 
TRACT 1: 
THE EAST 200 FEET OF THE SOUTH 105 FEET OF THE NORTH 155 FEET OF LOT NUMBERED A-42, AS 
SAID LOT IS KNOWN AND DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF NORTHLAND PARK SECOND 
SECTION, A SUBDIVISION IN OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING 
RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, PAGE 62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY, 
INDIANA. 
ALSO, THE EAST 75 FEET OF THE SOUTH 289 FEET OF LOT NUMBERED A-42, AS SAID LOT IS KNOWN 
AND DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF NORTHLAND PARK SECOND SECTION, A SUBDIVISION 
IN OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, 
PAGE 62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA. 
TRACT 2: 
THE EAST 200 FEET OF THE SOUTH 245 FEET OF LOT NUMBERED A-40, AS SAID LOT IS KNOWN AND 
DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF NORTHLAND PARK SECOND SECTION, A SUBMMSION IN 
OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, PAGE 
62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA.  
ALSO, THE NORTH 50 FEET OF THE EAST 200 FEET OF LOT NUMBERED A-42, AS SAID LOT IS KNOWN 
AND DESIGNATED ON THE RECODED PLAT OF NORTHLAND PARK SECOND SECTION, A SUBDIVISION IN 
OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, PAGE 
62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA. 
TRACT 3: 
LOT NUMBERED A-11 AS THE SAID LOT IS KNOWN AND DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF 
NORTHLAND PARK SECOND SECTION, A SUBDIVISION IN OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, 
INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, PAGE 62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER 
OF ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA. 
 
Address:  
3504 Cooper Drive, Elkhart IN 46514 
 
Parcel Identification Number(s): 
20-02-26-126-012.000-027 



 

Page 7 of 7 
 

Exhibit B 

 

Tax Deduction Schedule  

 

 



 

Page 1 of 7 
 

 MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

Personal Property 

This Memorandum of Agreement (“Agreement”) serves as a confirmation of the good-faith 
commitment by Consolidated Metals, Inc. \ Westwood Manor, Inc., (hereinafter, the “Applicant”) to use its 
reasonable best efforts to implement the Project as described, to create and retain the jobs and pay the wages 
specified in the Applicant’s Property Tax Phase-In Application for designation of certain real property as 
an Economic Revitalization Area, (“Application”), and the Statement of Benefits Personal Property 
Improvement (Form SB-1 Personal Property, as the same may have been amended,  herein after “Statement 
of Benefits”), and to fulfill its obligations set forth within this Agreement (“Applicant's Commitment”). 

 
 1. Commitments of City and Applicant:   
 
  (a)  Subject to the requirements under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-3, the City of Elkhart, 
Indiana ("City"), acting by and through its Common Council, agrees to approve a deduction from the 
assessed value of the proposed installation of manufacturing equipment for five (5) (consecutive) on the 
Applicant’s real property to be located at 3504 Cooper Drive, Elkhart IN 46514 (hereinafter, the “Subject 
Property”), which is more specifically described in Exhibit A of this Agreement.  The amount of the 
deduction from the assessed value of the Subject Property shall be according to the deduction schedule 
shown in Exhibit B of this Agreement (hereinafter, the “Tax Phase-In”). The Tax Phase-In shall start with 
the first year in which the assessed value of the Subject Property increases because of the proposed 
manufacturing equipment. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the designation of the Subject 
Property as an economic revitalization area expires on December 31, 2027, and the Project (as hereafter 
defined) must be completed by then for the Applicant to be or remain eligible to receive the Tax Phase-In 
benefits. 
 
  (b)  Subject to Section 4 herein, the Applicant agrees that by December 31, 2026, it will 
make a total capital expenditure of Nine Million One Hundred Twenty-Nine Thousand Five Hundred 
($9,129,500.00) associated with the investment of manufacturing equipment for mechanical steel mill and 
structural steel mill at the Subject Property (the “New Equipment”), which will create at least 30 new full-
time permanent positions with an average annual salary of no less than $50,981.00, while retaining NOT 
APPLICABLE jobs with an average annual salary of no less than , based on two thousand forty hours 
(2,040) annually.  The Applicant further agrees to contribute fifteen percent (15%) of the amount of personal 
property taxes abated under the Tax Phase-In, which payment will be collected by the Elkhart County 
Treasurer as set forth in the tax invoice statement and remitted to the City. Payment of the contribution 
shall (1) coincide with the due date of property tax payments in Elkhart County as set forth in Indiana Code 
6-1.1-22-9(a), and (2) shall be due and payable the first time in the year following the first year in which 
the assess value of the subject property increases by reason of the Project and shall continue and each year 
thereafter during the term of the Tax Phase-In deduction period set forth in Exhibit B, unless modified by 
agreement of the City of Elkhart and the Applicant.  
   

2.  Applicant’s Compliance with City and State Laws: During the term of the Tax Phase-In, the 
Applicant shall use its good-faith efforts to comply with all applicable provisions of Indiana Code 6-1.1-
12.1. Also, during the term of the Tax Phase-In, the City may annually request information from the 
Applicant concerning the nature of the Project, the costs of the Project and the amount of and average wages 
for the jobs, and the Applicant shall provide the City with adequate written evidence thereof within fifteen 
(15) days of such request ("Annual Survey").  The City shall utilize this information and the information 
provided by the Applicant in the CF-1 Compliance with the Statement of Benefits form to verify that the 
Applicant has complied with the commitments contained in Applicant's Commitment at all times after the 
date thereof until the expiration of the Tax Phase-In. The Applicant further agrees to provide the City with 



 

Page 2 of 7 
 

such additional information reasonably requested by the City related to the information provided in the 
Annual Survey and the CF-1 form within fifteen (15) days following any such additional request.  

 
3.  Substantial Compliance and Rights of Termination:  The City reserves the right to terminate the 

Economic Revitalization Area designation and the associated Tax Phase-In if it determines that the 
Applicant has not substantially complied with all of the Applicant's Commitment, and the Applicant’s 
failure to substantially comply with Applicant's Commitment was not due to factors beyond its control. As 
used in this Agreement, substantial compliance shall mean: by December 31, 2026, (1) making capital 
expenditures of not less than Ninety-Five Percent (95%) of the capital expenditures referenced in Section 
1 above for the Project, (2) creating not less than Ninety-five Percent (95%) of the jobs referenced in Section 
1 above, and (3) those new jobs will have an average annual salary of at least $50,981.00, excluding 
benefits, while retaining the jobs referenced in Section 1 of this Agreement and at the specified average 
annual rate of pay.  

 
4.  Factors Beyond Applicant's Control:  As used in this Agreement, factors beyond the control of 

the Applicant shall only include factors that: (i) are not reasonably foreseeable at the time of designation, 
application, and submission of the Statement of Benefits; (ii) are not caused by any grossly negligent act or 
omission of the Applicant; and (iii) do not materially and adversely affect the ability of the Applicant to 
substantially comply with this Agreement.  

 
5.  Repayment of Tax Phase-In Savings:   
 
 (a) During the term of this Agreement, if the Applicant: (i) is delinquent or in default 

for a period of sixty (60) days with respect to any tax payment due in Elkhart County, Indiana; or (ii) ceases 
operations at the facility for which the Tax Phase-In was granted for a period longer than thirty (30) 
consecutive days (other than a temporary cessation of operations in the Applicant's normal course of 
business or as a result of a force majeure event); or (iii) announces the cessation of operations at such 
facility for a period longer than thirty (30) consecutive days (other than a temporary cessation of operations 
in the Applicant's normal course of business or as a result of a force majeure event); or otherwise fails to 
comply with the commitments of this Memorandum of Agreement, then the City may terminate the 
Economic Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-In benefits, and upon such 
termination, require the Applicant to repay all of the Tax Phase-In benefits received through the date of 
such termination.  Such repayment of received benefits shall be calculated as provided in Section 5(b). The 
amount of benefit repayment shall be measured against the level of noncompliance, relative to the entire 
abatement period. 

 
 (b) In the event the City terminates this Agreement in accordance with this Section 5, 

the Applicant will be required to repay only that percentage of the Tax Phase-In benefits received through 
the date of termination that is equal to the percentage of the Applicant's noncompliance with Section 1 
above, including unfulfilled years, subsequent to the termination. Applicant shall be entitled to a credit 
against the recalculated tax due for the fifteen percent (15%) tax savings which was allocated to, and 
received by, the City. For purposes of this Agreement, the percentage of the Applicant's noncompliance 
with Section 1 above shall be calculated as follows: the amount of actual investment in each category 
(average annual salary, number of jobs, and personal property investment) shall be divided by 100% 
compliance, to determine Applicant’s compliance rate. The compliance rate then shall be subtracted from 
100% to determine the percentage of noncompliance. The percentage of noncompliance shall equal the 
percentage of benefit repayment. 

 
If the Applicant fails to achieve substantial compliance in more than one category, the category 

with the lowest compliance rate will be used to determine the repayment percentage. 



 

Page 3 of 7 
 

 
6.  Assessment Appeals.  Neither the Applicant, nor its successors and assigns, shall file any 

property tax assessment appeal, review, or other challenge of the property tax assessment made for the 
Project involved during the term of the Tax Phase-In unless one of the following conditions occurs during 
the deduction period: 

 
 (a) the original assessment for the Project as determined by the Elkhart County Assessor 

(“Assessor”) is in excess of the total capital expenditure for the Project as set forth in Section 1 of this 
Agreement; or 

 
 (b) a trending assessment or a reassessment by the Assessor increases the assessment for 

the Project by more than fifteen percent (15%) from one (1) year to the next year, or by more than an 
average of ten percent (10%) per year over two (2) or more years. 

 
7.  Notice/Hearing of Termination:  In the event that the City determines in accordance with Section 

5 above that (i) the Economic Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-In benefits should 
be terminated or (ii) that all or a portion of the Tax Savings should be repaid, it will give the Applicant 
notice of such determination, including a written statement calculating the amount due from the Applicant, 
and will provide the Applicant with an opportunity to meet with the City’s designated representatives to 
show cause why the Tax Phase-In benefits should not be terminated and/or repaid.  Such notice shall state 
the names of the person with whom the Applicant may meet and will provide that the Applicant shall have 
thirty (30) days from the date of such notice to arrange such meeting and to provide its evidence concerning 
why the Tax Phase-In benefits termination and/or repayment should not occur.  If, after giving such notice 
and receiving such evidence, if any, the City determines that the Tax Phase-In termination and/or repayment 
action is proper, the Applicant shall be provided with written notice and a hearing before the Common 
Council.  Before any final action shall be taken terminating the Tax Phase-In and/or requiring repayment 
of Tax Phase-In benefits, any such action shall be subject to judicial review under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-
5.9(e). 

 
8.  Repayment:  In the event the City requires repayment of the Tax Phase-In benefits as provided 

following the procedures set forth in Section 7 hereunder, it shall provide Applicant with a written statement 
calculating the amount due ("Statement"), and the Applicant shall repay its actual amount of Tax Phase-In 
benefits to the City within thirty (30) days of the date of the Statement. If the Applicant does not make 
timely repayment, the City shall be entitled to all reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees incurred in the 
enforcement and collection of the Tax Phase-In benefits required to be repaid hereunder. 

 
9.  Modification/Entire Agreement:  This Agreement and any schedules attached hereto contain the 

entire understanding between the City and the Applicant with respect to the subject matter hereof, and 
supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, inducements, and conditions, 
expressed or implied, oral or written, except as herein contained. This Agreement may not be modified or 
amended other than by an agreement in writing signed by the City and the Applicant. The Applicant 
understands that any and all filings required to be made or actions required to be taken to initiate or maintain 
the Tax Phase-In are solely the responsibility of the Applicant. 

 
10.  Waivers:  Neither the failure, nor any delay on the part of the City to exercise any right, remedy, 

power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial 
exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege preclude any other or further exercise of the same or of 
any other right, remedy, power or privilege with respect to any occurrence or be construed as a waiver of 
such right, remedy, power, or privilege with respect to any other occurrence.  No waiver shall be effective 
unless it is in writing and is signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver. 



 

Page 4 of 7 
 

 
11.  Governing Laws of Indiana:  This Agreement and all questions relating to its validity, 

interpretation, performance, and enforcement shall be governed by the laws and decisions of the courts of 
the State of Indiana. 

 
12.  Applicant’s Consent to Jurisdiction:  The Applicant hereby irrevocably consents to the 

jurisdiction of the Courts of the State of Indiana and of the Elkhart County Circuit or Superior Court in 
connection with any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any documents or 
instrument delivered with respect to any of the obligations hereunder, and any action related to this 
Agreement shall be brought in such County and in such Court. 

 
13.  Notices:  All notices, requests, demands, and other communications required or permitted 

under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been received when delivered by 
hand, by facsimile (with confirmation by registered or certified mail), on the next business day following 
the mailing by a nationally recognized overnight commercial courier, or on the third business day following 
the mailing, by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, thereof, addressed as 
set forth below: 

 
If to Applicant: 
 
Consolidated Metals, Inc. 
Sherry Ryan 
Chief Financial Officer 
625 E Twiggs Ste 110 PBM 97617 
Tampa, FL 33607 
 

  
 
Westwood Manor, Inc. 
Charles Cooper 
President 
22114 Alpine Ridge Court 
South Bend, IN  46628 

   
If to the City of Elkhart: 
 
Office of the Mayor 
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516 
 

 Copy to: 
 
Elkhart Common Council 
c/o Administrative Assistant to the Council 
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516 

   
14.  Assignment and Transfer Prohibited:  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 

benefit of the City and the Applicant and their successors and assigns, except that no party may assign or 
transfer its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
15.  Valid and Binding Agreement: This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original as against any party whose signature appears 
thereon, and all of which shall together constitute one and the same instrument. By executing this 
Agreement, each party confirms that each person so executing it has been duly authorized to execute this 
Agreement on behalf of such party and that this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of 
the party. 

 
16.  Severability:  The provisions of this Agreement and of each section or other subdivision herein 

are independent of and separable from each other, and no provision shall be affected or rendered invalid or 
unenforceable by virtue of the fact that for any reason any other or others of them may be invalid or 
unenforceable in whole or in part unless this Agreement is rendered totally unenforceable thereby. 



 

Page 5 of 7 
 

 
17.  No Personal Liability:  No official, director, officer, employee or agent of the City shall be 

charged personally by the Applicant, its employees or agents with any liabilities or expenses of defense or 
be held personally liable to the Applicant under any term or provision of this Agreement or because of the 
execution by such party of this Agreement or because of any default by such party hereunder. 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year 

first above written. 

APPLICANT: 
 
Consolidated Metals, Inc. 
625 E Twiggs Ste 110 PBM 97617 
Tampa, FL 33607 
 
By: 
 
      
Sherry Ryan 
Chief Financial Officer 
 
CITY OF ELKHART: 
 
By: 
 
      
Arvis Dawson 
President of the Elkhart Common Council 
 
 
By:       
 
      
Rod Roberson 
Mayor of the City of Elkhart 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
      
John M. Espar 
Corporation Counsel for the City of Elkhart 

  
 
Westwood Manor, Inc. 
22114 Alpine Ridge Court 
South Bend, IN  46628 
 
 
 
      
Charles Cooper 
President 
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Debra Barrett 
Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Debra Barrett 
Elkhart City Clerk 



 

Page 6 of 7 
 

Exhibit A 
Description of Real Property  

(Economic Revitalization Area and Project Area) 

 
Legal Description: 
 
TRACT 1: 
THE EAST 200 FEET OF THE SOUTH 105 FEET OF THE NORTH 155 FEET OF LOT NUMBERED A-42, AS 
SAID LOT IS KNOWN AND DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF NORTHLAND PARK SECOND 
SECTION, A SUBDIVISION IN OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING 
RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, PAGE 62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY, 
INDIANA. 
ALSO, THE EAST 75 FEET OF THE SOUTH 289 FEET OF LOT NUMBERED A-42, AS SAID LOT IS KNOWN 
AND DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF NORTHLAND PARK SECOND SECTION, A SUBDIVISION 
IN OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, 
PAGE 62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA. 
TRACT 2: 
THE EAST 200 FEET OF THE SOUTH 245 FEET OF LOT NUMBERED A-40, AS SAID LOT IS KNOWN AND 
DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF NORTHLAND PARK SECOND SECTION, A SUBMMSION IN 
OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, PAGE 
62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA.  
ALSO, THE NORTH 50 FEET OF THE EAST 200 FEET OF LOT NUMBERED A-42, AS SAID LOT IS KNOWN 
AND DESIGNATED ON THE RECODED PLAT OF NORTHLAND PARK SECOND SECTION, A SUBDIVISION IN 
OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, PAGE 
62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA. 
TRACT 3: 
LOT NUMBERED A-11 AS THE SAID LOT IS KNOWN AND DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF 
NORTHLAND PARK SECOND SECTION, A SUBDIVISION IN OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, 
INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, PAGE 62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER 
OF ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA. 
 
Address:  
3504 Cooper Drive, Elkhart IN 46514 
 
Parcel Identification Number(s): 
20-02-26-126-012.000-027 



 

Page 7 of 7 
 

Exhibit B 

 

Tax Deduction Schedule  

 

 
 



Proposed Resolution 24-R-53





 
Page 1 of 7 

Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-53 

RESOLUTION NO. R_____ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DECLARING A CERTAIN AREA TO BE AN ECONOMIC 

REVITALIZATION AREA FOR THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN 
BENEFITS TO PECF ENTERPRISES INC. DBA TRIANGLE RUBBER CO, LLC \ N7 

GUILD LLC 

WHEREAS, Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1 (the “Act”) authorizes the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana (“Common Council”) to designate an area within the territorial boundaries 
of the City of Elkhart, Indiana as an economic revitalization area, as that term is defined in Section 
1 of the Act, for the purpose of allowing certain qualified businesses the right to receive deductions 
from the assessed value of improvements made to real property and personal property located in 
the economic revitalization area; and 

WHEREAS, PECF Enterprises Inc. dba Triangle Rubber Co, LLC \ N7 Guild LLC, 
(hereinafter the “Applicant\Property Owner”) filed an application with the City of Elkhart, 
requesting that the real estate described in Exhibit A attached to this Resolution (the “Area”) be 
designated as an economic revitalization area by the Common Council for the purpose of allowing 
a deduction from the assessed value of the real property improvements, consisting of new building 
construction for building addition (the “Project”) and from the assessed value of the manufacturing 
equipment for purchase of new injection molding/robotic equipment and overhead crane (the 
“New Equipment”); and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant\Property Owner filed with the City a Statement of Benefits 
Form (SB-1/Real Property) for the Project and a Statement of Benefits Form (SB-1/Personal 
Property) for the New Equipment (collectively the “Statement of Benefits”); and 

WHEREAS, prior to the commencement of the Project in the Area, the Area had become 
undesirable for, or impossible of, normal development and occupancy because of a lack of 
development, cessation of growth, deterioration of improvements or character of occupancy, age, 
obsolescence, substandard buildings, or other factors which have impaired values and prevented 
normal development and use of the property; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council has caused to be prepared maps and plats showing the 
boundaries of the Area; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council has studied the Area and considered the 
Applicant\Property Owner’s request to designate the Area as an economic revitalization area and 
the Applicant\Property Owner’s Statement of Benefits. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, as follows: 



 
Page 2 of 7 

1. After considering the evidence presented at the public meeting conducted this date, 
the Common Council hereby finds and determines that: 

A. the estimate of the value of the Project in the Area is reasonable for projects 
of this nature, and the estimate of the cost of the New Equipment is reasonable for 
equipment of this type in this Area; 

B. the estimate of the number of individuals who will be employed or whose 
employment will be retained in the Area can reasonably be expected to result from the 
Project and installation of the New Equipment; 

C. the estimate of the annual salaries of those individuals who will be 
employed or whose employment will be retained in the Area can reasonably be expected 
to result from the Project and installation of the New Equipment; 

D. the other benefits about which information was requested are benefits that 
can reasonably be expected to result from the Project and installation of the New 
Equipment; and 

E. the totality of benefits is sufficient to justify declaring the Area as an 
economic revitalization area and allowing deductions in accordance with the Act. 

2. The Area is hereby designated an economic revitalization area (“ERA”) under 
Section 2.5 of the Act, subject to the requirements of the Act for the purpose of allowing a 
deduction from the assessed value of the Project and installation of the New Equipment, 
respectively.  

3. The Administrative Assistant of the Common Council is hereby authorized and 
directed to make all filings necessary or desirable with the Elkhart County Assessor, to publish all 
notices required by the Act, and to take all other necessary actions to carry out the purposes and 
intent of this Resolution and to establish and designate the Area as an economic revitalization area. 

4. The Administrative Assistant of the Common Council is further authorized and 
directed to file this Declaratory Resolution, together with any supporting information, with each 
of the officers of each taxing unit that has authority to levy property taxes in the Area, as provided 
in the Act. 

5. This Declaratory Resolution shall be submitted to the public for hearing and 
remonstrance as provided by the Act; and said public hearing shall be convened by the Common 
Council on November 18, 2024, at 6:00 p.m., at the City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, Elkhart, 
Indiana 46516. 

6. In accordance with Section 2.5(b) of the Act, the Common Council hereby 
determines that a deduction for the Project under Section 3 of the Act shall be allowed for a period 
of three (3) years. The amount of the deduction for each eligible year shall be according to the 
following deduction schedule: 



 
Page 3 of 7 

  
 

7. The deduction schedule shall commence in the first year that the Project results in 
any increase in the assessed value of the Area designated as an ERA. The ERA shall expire on the 
last year of the applicable deduction schedule for the Project, unless terminated sooner by action 
of the Common Council under the Act. 

8. In accordance with Section 2.5(b) of the Act, the Common Council hereby 
determines that a deduction for the installation of the New Equipment under Section 4.5 of the Act 
shall be allowed for a period of three (3) years. The amount of the deduction for each eligible year 
shall be according to the following deduction schedule: 

 
9. The deduction schedule shall commence in the first year that the New Equipment 

is installed in the Area designated as an ERA. The ERA shall expire on the last year of the 
applicable deduction schedule for the New Equipment, unless terminated sooner by action of the 
Common Council under the Act.  

10. The Common Council, with the consent of property owner, adopts and incorporates 
by reference into this Resolution the provisions of Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-14 and imposes a fee 
on the property owner equal to 15% of the tax savings as determined under Indiana Code 6-1.1-
12.1-14(c). 

11. The Common Council hereby adopts and incorporates by reference the provisions 
of Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-12, providing that if the owner of the property owner or tenant of the 
property, ceases operations at the facility for which the deduction was granted, and the designating 
body finds that the Applicant or property owner obtained the deduction by intentionally providing 
false information concerning the Applicant’s or property owner's plans to continue operations at 
the facility, the property owner shall pay the amount determined by the County Auditor pursuant 
to law, after an appeal, if any. 



 
Page 4 of 7 

12. The Common Council’s designation of the Area as an economic revitalization area 
shall terminate after a public hearing held by the Common Council in accordance with the Act if 
the Applicant and/or property owner: 

A. fails to substantially complete the Project, install the proposed New 
Equipment, and create and maintain the level of benefits described in the Statement of 
Benefits; 

B. fails to enter into a written agreement with the City of Elkhart confirming 
the Applicant\Property Owner’s commitment to comply with the project description, job 
creation and retention (and associated wage rates and salaries) figures contained in the 
Statement of Benefits; or 

C. fails to continue operations at the facility for which the deduction was 
granted; or 

D. intentionally provides false information to the designating body concerning 
the Applicant’s or property owner’s plans to continue operations at the facility. 

13. The provisions of this Declaratory Resolution shall be subject in all respects to the 
Act and any amendments thereto. 

14. This Declaratory Resolution shall take effect upon its adoption. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.]



 
Page 5 of 7 

 
Exhibit A 

 
Description of Real Property 

 
The real property comprising the Economic Revitalization Area is described as follows: 
 
Property Address:  
20-07-06-203-001.000-039 
 
Parcel Number(s):  
5333 Beck Drive, Elkhart IN 46516  
 
Legal Description: 
Lot Number One (1) as the said Lot is known and designated on the recorded Plat of Beck 
Industrial Park Minor Subdivision No. 1; said Plat being recorded in Plat Book 34, page 29, in the 
Office of the Recorder of Elkhart County, Indiana.  



 
Page 6 of 7 

 

 RESOLVED this ____ day of ________________, _______. 

 
____________________________________ 
Arvis Dawson 

     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at 

________ a.m./p.m. 

_____________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
 
 APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, _______. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
  



 
Page 7 of 7 

STATE OF INDIANA ) 
)   § 

COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

I, Debra D. Barrett, Clerk of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, do hereby certify the above is a 
full, true and complete copy of Resolution No. R-____, adopted by the Common Council on the    
  day of   , _____ , by a vote of _______ AYES and _______ NAYS, and was 
approved and signed by the Mayor on the ______ day of    , ______ , and now 
remains on file and on record in my office. 

 
WITNESS my hand and the official seal of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, this ____ day of  

  , ______ . 
 
 

__________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
 

































Exhibit A 

Legal Descdption 

As to Parcel 1: 
Lot Number One (1) as the said Lot is known and designated on the recorded Plat of Beck 
Industrial Park Minor Subdivision No. 1; said Plat being recorded in Plat Book 34, page 29, in 
the Office of the Recorder of Elkhart County, Indiana. 

3 

ELKHART COUNTY INDIANA 2024-03056 PAGE 3 OF 3 




	AGENDA for November 4, 2024 City Council Meeting
	Minutes of the October 17, 2024 Special Call Council Meeting
	Minutes of October 21,  2024 Council Meeting
	Proposed Ordinance 24-O-41
	Proposed Ordinance 24-O-42
	Proposed Ordinance 24-O-43
	Proposed Ordinance 24-O-44
	Proposed Ordinance 24-O-45
	Proposed Ordinance 24-O-46
	Proposed Ordinance 24-O-47
	Proposed Ordinance 24-O-48
	Proposed Resolution 24-R-51
	Proposed Resolution 24-R-52
	Proposed Resolution 24-R-53
	Minutes of October 8, 2024 - Board of Public Safety



